
Children's Commissioning Committee  
 
Dear Member, 
 
You are invited to attend the meeting of the Children's Commissioning Committee to 
be held as follows for the transaction of the business indicated. 
David Wilcock 
Monitoring Officer 

 
DATE: Wednesday, 12 May 2021 
 
TIME:  9.30 am 
 
VENUE: Two New Bailey Square, New Bailey Street, Salford 

 
In accordance with ‘The Openness of Local Government Bodies Regulations 
2014,’ the press and public have the right to film, video, photograph or record 
this meeting.  

 
AGENDA 
 

1   Apologies for Absence.  
 

 

2   Declarations of Interest.  
 

 

3   Draft minutes of the meeting held on 10 March 2021.  
 

(Pages 1 - 6) 

4   Matters arising.  
 

 

5   Finance Report. (David Warhurst)  
 

(Pages 7 - 16) 

6   Risk Behaviours Business Case (Steve Gavin)  
 

(Pages 17 - 36) 

7   Transitions Policy (Debbie Blackburn)  
 

(Pages 37 - 74) 

8   0-25 Highlight reports from sub groups. (For Information)  
 

(Pages 75 - 84) 

9   Urgent Business - Part 1.  
 

 

10   Exclusion of the Public.  
 

 

11   Ingleside Birth & Community Centre Update. (Karen Proctor)  
 

 

12   Urgent Business - Part 2.  
 

 

13   Date and time of next meeting - Wednesday 14 July 2021 at 
9.30am.  
 

 

 
Contact Officer: Tel No: 0161 793 3011 

Public Document Pack



 

Mike McHugh, Senior Democratic Services Officer E-Mail: mike.mchugh@salford.gov.uk 



 

CHILDREN’S COMMISSIONING COMMITTEE 

 

Wednesday 10 March 2021, 09:30 – 10:42 

 

Present 

 

Councillor John Merry, CBE (JM) Deputy City Mayor and Lead Member for  

(Chair)     Children’s and Young People Services - SCC 

 

Nick Browne (NB) Clinical Director of Partnerships / Neighbourhood 

Lead - CCG 

Steve Dixon (SD) Chief Accountable Officer - CCG 

Councillor Bill Hinds (BH) Lead Member for Finance and Support Services - 

SCC 

Francine Thorpe (FT) Director of Quality and Innovation - CCG 

David Warhurst (DW)   Chief Finance Officer - CCG 

Karen Proctor (KP)   Director of Commissioning - CCG 

Charlotte Ramsden (CR)  Strategic Director People - SCC 

Tom Regan (TR)   Clinical Lead for Transformation - CCG 

Councillor John Walsh (JW) Executive Support Member for Education and  

     Learning - SCC 

Chris Hesketh (CH)   Head of Financial Management - SCC 

 

In Attendance 

 

Debbie Blackburn (BD) Assistant Director Public Health Nursing and 

Wellbeing - SCC 

Harry Golby (HG)   Assistant Director of Commissioning - CCG 

Eejay Whitehead (EW) Senior Service Improvement Manager - Children & 

Maternity - CCG 

Claire Vaughan (CV) Head of Medicines Optimisation - CCG 

Emily Edwards (EE) Senior Integrated Commissioning Manager - SCC 

Mike McHugh (MM)   Senior Democratic Services Advisor - SCC 

 

Apologies 

 

Councillor Jim Cammell (JC) 

Muna Abdel Aziz (MAA) 

 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



1. Apologies for Absence 

 

The above apologies were noted. 

 

2. Declarations of Interest 

 

There were no declarations of interest in any of the items on the agenda. 

 

3. Draft Minutes of the Meeting held on 13 January 2021 

 

The minutes of the meeting held on 13 January 2021 were approved as a correct 

record. 

 

4. Matters arising 

 

There were no matters arising. 

 

5. Finance Report 

 

DW presented a financial report which provided the Children’s Commissioning 
Committee (CCC) with an in-year update in relation to the financial performance of 
the Children’s element of the integrated fund at month 10 (January) 2020/21. 

 

It was confirmed that, at month 10, the children’s element of the Integrated Fund (IF) 
was forecast to be overspent by £1.2m. This was an improvement of £1.3m from the 
last reported position. 
 
The main areas of over and under performance within the Fund against 
the approved IF plan for 2020/21 were highlighted, as follows - 
 
(i) Looked After Children £5.5m overspend 
 

There had been an improvement of £0.2m since the last report to the 
committee. This was due to reduced placement costs within and outside 
Salford. 

 
(ii) Committed Developments £5.4m underspend 
 
A further £1.0m had been released meaning the whole of the contingency had now 
been released with this predominantly offsetting the pressure on looked after 
children. 
 
An update was provided on the progress of planning for 2021/22 financial plan of the 
Integrated Fund in its entirety, along with the next steps and risk associated with 
planning for 2021/22. 
 

 

Page 2



It was confirmed that, as the NHS planning round had been paused; and scheduled 

to be reported in June 2021. Owing to this, there was no certainty around 2021/22 

allocations but the first draft plan, which included NHS ‘must do’s’ and local authority 

priorities, projected a deficit of £10.5m across the whole integrated fund.  

 

A significant amount of work had been undertaken subsequently which had enabled 

the expected risk to be reduced to around £6m. This was higher than the £4.7m risk 

at the start of 2020/21. However, it afforded the system’s key priorities and ensured 

Salford was well placed to recover and restore services post-pandemic.  

 
Discussion took place in respect of a number of issues, including - 
 
- the production of an opening budget paper would be presented at the next 

committee meeting. 
 
- the assessment of risk across the organisations. 
 
- details relating to the implementation of the ‘real living wage’ 
 
- service planning owing to future budgetary constraints 
 
RESOLVED: (1) THAT the in-year position for the children’s integrated fund for 
2020/21 and the next steps and risks identified affecting the children’s integrated 
fund presently and in the future be noted. 
 
  (2) THAT a report detailing the opening budget for 2021/22 be 
submitted at the next meeting of this Committee.  
 
6. THRIVE Update 

 

BD and EE presented a report which provided an update and progress report on 

Salford’s Thrive programme, which included: 

 

- An Executive Summary of the key achievements and challenges. 

 

- an overview of the additional pressures that COVID-19 had placed and 

continued to place on the children and young people’s emotional health 

and wellbeing system.  

 

- other locality strategic work which highlighted the links across the wider 

children’s 0-25 transformation, health and social care programmes. 

 

- Key Lines of Enquiry (KLOES) were highlighted and included an infographic 

summary of compliance against these. 

 

 

 

 

Page 3



- Details of the Greater Manchester children’s and young people’s mental 

health programme. It was noted that some key priorities were co-ordinated / 

supported or driven at GM level and this fed into the RAG rating against some 

KLOES where Salford’s role was to influence or support joint commissioning 

arrangements. 

 

- A comprehensive overview of the progress made against the delivery plan 

and priorities for 2020-21.  

 

- An overview of the finance and investment in children’s emotional health and 

wellbeing in Salford, and what services and support that the combined funding 

provided. A forecast of the investment plan for 2021-22, and more details of 

funding and budgets was also provided. 

 

- An overview of Salford’s performance against our key national and GM 

outcomes targets and indicators. Also identified were the elements of 

children’s emotional health system that were most challenging in terms of 

access and performance, and the action being taken to address these. 

 

- A summary of the key priorities for 2021-22 that were identified by the Thrive 

Partnership in December. Partners agreed that last year’s priorities would roll 

forward and continue as ‘normal business’. 

 

The priorities identified for next year reflected the critical issues, concerns and 

challenges that had surfaced during the pandemic and were placing new / 

additional pressures across the children’s and young people’s emotional 

health system.  

 

It was confirmed that there was a statutory requirement on all CCGs to produce and 

publish an annual update to their local transformation plans. In Salford publication on 

CCG and Council websites.  

 

Owing to the Covid-19 pandemic and the associated pressures across the health 

system, NHS England had moved the required date of publication to 30 September 

2021.  

 

Discussion took place in respect of a number of issues, which included - 

 

- the increase in the prevalence of mental health issues being reported by, and 

on behalf of, children and young people in the city 

 

- the promotion of services available to children and young people across the 

city 

 

 

 

Page 4



- the need to ensure that individuals moving from children’s to adult services 

were effectively monitored through the transition period. 

 

It was confirmed that the Transitions Policy was scheduled to be presented at 

the meeting of this Committee in May 2021. 

 

- the need to ensure clarity in respect of the process for referrals being made 

into the system, particularly for GPs in the city. 

 

- a request for further outcome / performance details to be included in future 

update reports 

 

It was confirmed that this report was also subject to consideration and approval at 

the meeting of the Health and Wellbeing Board in May 2021. 

 

RESOLVED: (1) THAT progress on the Thrive work programme in 2020-21, as 

outlined in detail in the Salford Thrive Plan - Update 2021, be noted. 

 

  (2) THAT the publication of the Thrive Plan Update on CCG and 

Council websites, subject to the approval of the Health and Wellbeing Board, be 

confirmed. 

 

  (3) THAT the proposed priorities and plans for 2021-22 be supported. 

 

7. Children’s Assurance Updates 
 

RESOLVED: THAT consideration of this item be deferred to a future meeting of this 

Committee. 

 

8. 0-25 Highlight reports from sub-groups 

 

The following items were submitted to the Committee for information - 

 

- 0-25 Highlight (CAN ERG) 

- 0-25 Highlight (Early Help Neighbourhood Operational Group (EHNOG)) 

- 0-25 Highlight (Salford Thrive) 

- 0-25 Highlight (Therapies ERG) 

 

RESOLVED: THAT the update reports be noted. 

 

9. Urgent Business - Part 1 

 

There were no items of urgent business. 

 

 

 

Page 5



10.  Exclusion of the Public 

 

RESOLVED: THAT, under section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the 

public be excluded from the meeting for the following item of business on the 

grounds that it involves the likely disclosure of exempt information as specified in 

paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Act. 

 

11.  Ingleside Birth and Community Centre update 

 
KP gave an update which provided the Children’s Commissioning 
Committee (CCC) with details of progress following the discussion at previous 
meetings on the future commissioning of Ingleside BCC. 

 

RESOLVED: THAT the report be noted; and that further updates be presented at 

future meetings of this Committee.  

 

12.  Urgent Business - Part 2 

 

There were no items of urgent business. 

 

13.  Dates of Future Meetings  

 

RESOLVED: THAT the next meeting of this Committee be held on Wednesday 12 

May 2021, at 9.30am. 

Page 6



 

Children’s Commissioning Committee 

Part 1 

Agenda item number:  

Item for: Decision/Assurance/Information 

12th May 2021 

Report of: Interim Chief Finance Officer 

Date of paper: 29th April 2021 

Subject: Finance Report 

In case of query please contact: David Warhurst, Interim Chief Finance Officer 

Strategic priorities (please mark with an X which priorities the paper relates 
to) 

Priority Selection 

Quality, Safety, Innovation and Research:   

Integrated Community Care Services (Adult 
Services): 

 

Children’s and Maternity Services:  X 

Primary Care:   

Enabling Transformation:  X 

Purpose of paper:  

The purpose of this paper is to provide the Children’s Commissioning Committee with the 
2020/21 financial outturn of the Integrated Fund for Children’s services (Section 2) along with 
highlighting the risks to the financial position of the Children’s Integrated Fund for 2021/22. 

 

 
Page 7

Agenda Item 5



 

Further explanatory information required 

Question Answer 

How will this benefit the health 
and wellbeing of Salford 
residents or the Clinical 
Commissioning Group? 

Ensuring public funding is spent 
appropriately.  Achieving Value for Money, 
ensuring that funding is available to protect 
core services. 

What risks may arise as a result 
of this paper? How can they be 
mitigated? 

Financial and performance pressures 
associated with the adults’ integrated fund 
services. Through management of 
committed developments and holding 
providers to account for performance. 

What equality-related risks may 
arise as a result of this paper?  
How will these be mitigated? 

N/A 

Does this paper help address any 
existing high risks facing the 
organisation? If so what are they 
and how does this paper reduce 
them? 

N/A 

Please describe any possible 
conflicts of interest associated 
with this paper. 

N/A 

Please identify any current 
services or roles that may be 
affected by issues within this 
paper. 

 

N/A 

 
Footnote: 

 

Members of the Children’s Commissioning Committee will read all papers thoroughly. Once 
papers are distributed no amendments are possible.

Page 8



 

   

 

Document development 

Process Yes No 
Not 
applicable 

Comments and date 
(i.e. presentation, verbal, 
actual report) 

Outcome 

Public engagement 

(Please detail the method  i.e. survey, 
event, consultation) 

     

Clinical engagement 

(Please detail the method  i.e. survey, 
event, consultation) 

     

Has ‘due regard’ been given to Social 
Value and the impacts on the residents of 
Salford socially, economically and 
environmentally (including climate 
change)? 

     

P
age 9



 

   

 

Process Yes No 
Not 
applicable 

Comments and date 
(i.e. presentation, verbal, 
actual report) 

Outcome 

Has ‘due regard’ been given to Equality 
Analysis (EA) of any adverse impacts? 

(Please detail outcomes, including risks 
and how these will be managed)  

     

Legal advice sought 
 

 

    

Presented to any informal groups or 
committees (including partnership groups) 
for engagement or other formal 
governance groups for comments / 
approval?  

(Please specify in comments) 

   Some elements discussed at the 
Service and Finance Group 

 

 
Note: Please ensure that it is clear in the comments and date column how and when particular stakeholders were involved in this work 
and ensure there is clarity in the outcome column showing what the key message or decision was from that group and whether 
amendments were requested about a particular part of the work 

P
age 10



 

   

 

Children’s Commissioning Committee (CCC) 

 

Finance Report – 12th May 2021 

1. Executive summary 

This finance report provides the Children’s Commissioning Committee (CCC) with the final 
position in relation to the financial performance of the children’s element of the Integrated 
Fund. 

At March 2021, the children’s element of the Integrated Fund (IF) over spent by £1.3m. This 
is a worsening of £0.1m from the last report of £1.2m over spent position. 

 

Section 2 highlights the main areas of over and under performance within the Fund against 
the approved IF plan for 2020/21.  The key areas that resulted in the outturn are highlighted 
below: 

• Complex Needs SEN - £0.3m - Over the last few months’ SEN transport costs have 
increased as restrictions have been lifted and pupils returned to schools.  

• Localities - £0.2m - Reduction in costs has been seen within child protection and 
planning team 

 

Section 3 & 4 – Gives an update on the progress of planning for 2021/22 financial plan of 
the Integrated Fund in its entirety, along with the next steps and risk associated with 
planning for 2021/22. 

 

CCC is asked to note the final position for the children’s integrated fund for 2020/21 and the 
next steps and risks identified affecting the children’s integrated fund presently and in the 
future. 

 

 

2. 2020/21 Monitoring 

2.1  This latest finance report provides the Children’s Commissioning Committee (CCC) 
with the final position of the Children’s element of the Integrated Fund for the 
financial year (2020/21).  The appendices contain a lot of detail and are appended to 
give members a more thorough understanding of the scope of the Children’s 

Page 11



 

   

 

Integrated Fund.  There are explanatory notes included in the appendices which 
hopefully explain the key messages contained within them. 

 

2.2 This finance report is based on March 2021 CCG and local authority information 
available at the time of writing the report.  A detailed analysis of the key children’s 
services within the Children’s Integrated Fund is shown in Appendices One and Two. 
The Service and Finance Group (SFG) have scrutinised the position and agreed to 
the key messages. 

 

2.3 The final position for 2020/21 at March 2021 is an over spend of £1.3m, this is a 
worsening of £0.1m from the last report to the committee, as shown in Table 1 
below. 

Table 1: 2020/21 Financial Summary 

Page 12



 

   

 

2.4 Looked After Children - This is the main area of overspend and biggest risk area 
for the fund.  These services over spent by £5.4m, this is consistent with the last 
report. Appendix 1 gives more information on these service and the previously report 
over spend in the Looked after Children category. 

 

2.5 Contingency - As part of the approved plan a contingency of £5m full year was set 
to reduce the 2019/20 financial pressure (£7.5m) within children’s services. The 
expectation was that the children’s best value transformation, such as Route 29, 
would offset the remaining pressure from 2019/20. This has been released in full 
within the fund to offset pressures within the fund. 

 

2.6 Risk share – It has been agreed in principle that the CCG as administrator will 
account for the full cost pressure of the fund as allowable under section 3 of the 
partnership agreement. The reported position is regarded as an exception for 
2020/21 due to the change in NHS financial regime and suspension of tariff and 
activity based contracts as well as the added complication of the Hospital Discharge 
Programme. This is on the understanding that the CCG will reduce its contribution to 
the 2021/22 Integrated Fund by the unrecovered element of the risk share from SCC 
for 2020/21. 

 

3. Integrated Fund 2021/22 

3.1 The NHS has now received funding enveloped for the first six months of 2021/22 
currently referred to as H1. There is continued focus to balance at a GM level and 
consequently, similar to the last six months of 2020/21, over £400m of funding has 
been allocated at a GM level, with GM being asked to agree the organisational split 
of this funding. For context, the level of funding at a GM level remains proportionate 
with 2020/21m when Salford received c. £5m, so this is a material figure. 

3.2 Block contracts are to remain in place for H1 for NHS organisations but independent 
providers will return to activity based contracts.  In depth reviews will be conducted 
across Greater Manchester at the end of month’s 3 and 5 to determine whether any 
allocations adjustments need to be made for H1 as well as informing the process for 
H2. 

3.3 A revised draft plan taking into account the funding allocation is still in development 
while it is early stages it is hoped that the deficit for the integrated fund will remain 
around the agreed £6.0m agreed at HCCB. More detail will be shared with the 
committee in the next meeting, recognising that the draft CCG financial plan is still to 
go through the CCGs Governing Body. 

 

 

Page 13



 

   

 

4. Risks and next steps 

4.1 Whilst the locality has developed a plan with an acceptable level of financial risk, the 
CCG is still awaiting the final confirmation of its funding envelope for H1. 

4.2 The funding regime is only for six months, therefore H2 (Month’s 7-12) remains a risk 
to the fund until such time as the NHS is informed of its remaining allocation. 

4.3 The opening budgets for 21/22 will include the delivery of a savings programme, 
which will create a financial pressure if not delivered.   

4.4 Due to the NHS reform it is unclear how the fund will progress beyond 2021/22 when 
CCGs are abolished and a new Greater Manchester equivalent organisation will 
come into existence. 

 

5. Recommendations 

5.1 The Children’s Commissioning Committee (CCC) is asked to: 

 Note the financial position of the children’s services within the Integrated Fund for 
2020/21. 

 Note the update relating to 2021/22 as well as risks and next steps. 

 

David Warhurst 

Interim Chief Finance Officer, Salford CCG  

Page 14



 

   

 

Appendix 1 – Looked After Children 2020/21 

 

Notes on this Appendix: 

This appendix shows all of the Looked after Children services that are managed directly by 
Salford City Council. 

These services over spent by £5.4m in 2020/21. This is a slight improvement in this position 
from the last report to the committee. 

The main overspend comes from outside placements at £3.9m for the year. Other areas of 
note are Fostering a £1.0m and Residential at £0.4m. These services have seen little 
movement in over spends from the last report. 

These services are the biggest area of financial risk for the Children’s Integrated Fund. The 
impact of the “Route 29” scheme is reflected within the position however the funding of the 
service still remains outside of the current Children’s fund for 2020/21. A separate update to 
this committee is provided on progress of this and other schemes for 2020/21. 

 

  

Page 15



 

   

 

Appendix 2 – Localities 2020/21 

 

Notes on this Appendix: 

This appendix shows all of the Localities Services that are managed directly by Salford City 
Council. 

These services over spent by £0.2m at year end, this is an improvement of £0.2m from the 
last report to this committee. This is predominantly due to the under spend within child 
protection & planning and from the locality teams across Salford.  

 

Page 16



 

1 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
         
 
 

Business Case  
 

 
Investment case for an Intensive Youth 
Service Support Provision, intended to reduce 
the risks of Children and Young People in 
Salford becoming involved in entrenched and 
problematic risk behaviours 
 

 
 
 
 
Version Control Log 
 

DATE SECTIONS NAME COMMENT 
05.02.21 Version 1 Steven Gavin Reviewed by Tim Rumley 

17.02.21 Version 2 Steven Gavin Reviewed by Sarah Scanlan, Deborah Blackburn 

01.03.21 Version 3 Steven Gavin Reviewed by Sayma Khan, Kay Davidson 

23.03.21 Version 4 Steven Gavin Additional comment by Deborah Blackburn 

14.04.21 Version 5 Steven Gavin Clarification of referral criteria and selection 

    

    

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 17

Agenda Item 6



 

2 
 

 
 
 
 

Table of Contents   
 
 

1 Executive Summary  
 
 

2 Evidence Review  
 
 

3. The Salford Picture 
 
 
4. What Works 

 
 
5. The Proposed Provision – An Intensive Youth Support Service 
 

 Aims 

 Objectives 

 Recruitment and Social Value 

 Support and Training 

 Selection Criteria 

 Casework 

 Performance and Evaluation 

 Costs 

 
6. Conclusion and recommendations  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 18



 

3 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
1. Executive Summary 

 
This business case outlines the proposal for investment in an Intensive Youth Support Service 
which is intended to provide early support to Children and Young people who are most at risk of 
developing problematic risk behaviours in adolescence. 
 
1.1. Risk-taking behaviour is a normal part of human behaviour and adolescent development. It is 

an essential mechanism for many positive aspects of development, such as personal growth, 
building confidence, increasing resilience and establishing independence. Risk-taking can 
also be considered problematic, however, if such behaviour results in harm being caused to 
the individual, their development and functioning or if it becomes an established part of their 
lifestyle (Calkin, 2010). 
 

1.2. For a minority of individuals, the adverse effects of problematic risk-taking behaviour in 
adolescence can spill over into adulthood, leading to a range of harmful outcomes and a 
dependency on health and social care services, carrying a significant cost burden. 

 
1.3. Progression towards such problems in adulthood is not a formality, however, as there are a 

number of protective factors which can help to build a young person’s resilience and minimise 
their risk-taking behaviours to a level where they do not pose safeguarding concerns. 

 
1.4. While action can be taken to build individual resilience and mitigate harmful and problematic 

risk-taking, their effects are cumulative across the life course. For this reason, the evidence 
suggests that early intervention can have the greatest impact (UNODC, 2020). 

 
1.5. This business case therefore proposes that children and young people who are most likely to 

develop later problematic risk behaviour in adolescence, are able to access intensive support 
to build resilience earlier in the life course. Further, that this provision will focus those children 
and young people around the time of transition from primary to secondary school which is 
recognised as a difficult period of increasing risk and decreasing risk factors (Bhabra et al., 
2006). 

 
1.6. Approval is sought for a total investment of £276,000 for a two-year pilot. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 19



 

4 
 

2. Evidence Review 
 

Drivers for risk-taking behaviour are multi-faceted and complex. There are a range of socio-
ecological factors to consider, such as the young person’s brain development and the influence 
of families, peer groups, school or community environments. Positive influences can support 
development and build resilience while negative influences can increase the likelihood that young 
people will be exposed to or engage in risk-taking activities. 
 
2.1. Research into brain development suggests that the adolescent brain is prone to sensation-

seeking behaviours, driven mainly by the dopamine release associated with risk-taking 
(Romer et al., 2010). It is also suggested that some parts of the human brain, such as the 
‘logical’ cortex, can take longer to mature, possibly into the mid-twenties. As such, adolescent 
decision-making relies more heavily on ‘emotional’ limbic responses, thereby increasing the 
likelihood of more dangerous risk-taking behaviour, particularly if there is no secure 
attachment figure to help them negotiate such hurdles (Brown and Ward, 2013). 
 

2.2. Brain development in children who are exposed to adverse childhood experiences (ACEs) or 
maltreatment in their early years, may result in a pronounced focus on survival, which 
dominates the more rational thinking associated with a cortex response as they get older 
(Brown and Ward, 2013). This could then lead to greater impulsivity and risk-taking behaviour 
in adolescence, exacerbated by a poor home environment which is likely to offer increased 
opportunities to engage in risk-taking behaviour. 

 
2.3. Likewise, maltreatment experienced in adolescence can have an even ‘stronger and more 

pervasive effect on later adjustment’, including criminal behaviour and substance use 
(Thornberry et al, 2010, cited in Rees et al, 2010). This effect is cited as being much greater 
than a similar episode which occurs solely within a child’s early formative years.  

 
2.4. Risk factors for anti-social or offending behaviours in adolescence can be influenced by the 

tolerance and attitudes towards such behaviours by their parents, siblings and peers, as well 
as young person’s own acceptance or attitude towards it (Bhabra et al., 2006). Poor 
educational attainment and living in a reconstituted or stepfamily were also associated with 
increased risk of anti-social or offending behaviours, while the transition from primary to 
secondary school was deemed to be a period of increasing risk and decreasing protective 
factors. 

 
2.5. Moreover, numerous studies suggest that adolescents will become increasingly exposed to 

harm outside of the family home, in schools, parks, high streets and other community venues 
(Brandon, et al., 2020; Firmin, 2017; Foshee, et al., 2014; Hill, 2019; Lloyd, 2018). These 
harms occur as a result of extra-familial relationships with peers (Barter, et al., 2015; Johnson, 
2013; Smallbone, et al., 2013) or with adults outside of the home (Brandon, et al., 2020; Jay, 
2014). 

 
2.6. Evidence also suggests that peer and extra-familial relationships take on greater prominence 

in adolescence, with young people often seeking acceptance from peers or engaging in risk-
taking together (e.g. drug-taking). Equally, peer and extra-familial relationships can offer 
support and protection to adolescents and the potential to advocate for prosocial behaviours 
(Blakemore, 2018; Cossar, et al., 2013). 

 

Page 20



 

5 
 

2.7. Moreover, while child maltreatment has always existed, the current COVID-19 outbreak has 
meant that children and young people are at greater risk than ever before. Romanou and 
Belton (2020) report that a combination of increased stressors on parents and care givers, 
the increased vulnerabilities of children and young people and a reduction on normal 
protective services, mean there is the potential for new and recurring cases of abuse in all its 
forms. 

 
 

2.8. Within the literature, there are many examples of how problematic risk-taking behaviour is 
manifested in adolescence: 
 

 Substance/alcohol misuse. 

 Self-harm/suicide. 

 Diet – obesity, eating disorders. 

 Sexual behaviour – early/high-risk sexual activity, unprotected sex, teenage 

pregnancy, inappropriate sexual behaviour, sexual abuse, Child Sexual Exploitation 

(CSE). 

 Criminality – County Lines/Gangs, drug and people trafficking, acquisitive crime, 

antisocial behaviour 

 Violence – gun crime, knife crime, hate crime, assault, domestic abuse, bullying. 

 Radicalisation – terrorist activities. 

 
 

3. Local Data 
 
It is recognised that some children in Salford lag behind others, in terms of having the best start 
in life. The proportions of Salford children living in absolute poverty (20.5% compared to 15.3%) 
and relative poverty (24.0% compared to 18.4%) are much greater than in England. While wider 
determinants contribute to some of the social problems driving risk-taking behaviour in later life, 
this means the local system needs to work harder to support children and young people in greatest 
need. 
 
3.1. Table 1 below outlines a range of public health outcome indicators that are associated with 

risk taking behaviours. In each instance, Salford shows a higher propensity towards risk-
taking behaviours than the England average. 
 

3.2. The proportion of 16-17 year olds who are NEET is still greater in Salford than in England, 
despite a recent narrowing of this gap. Education and employment are protective factors 
against harmful risk-taking behaviour. 

 
3.3. The rate of first-time entrants into the criminal justice system is a third higher in Salford than 

in England. Offending behaviour at an early age is a risk factor for continued recidivism into 
adulthood (Mulder et al., 2011). 

 
3.4. Not only is teenage pregnancy linked to earlier exposure to sources of stress at an earlier age 

(Romer, 2010), it can also perpetuate an intergenerational cycle of poverty and disadvantage 
that drives risk taking behaviour. Salford’s conception rate for under 18s is almost double that 
of England. 

Page 21



 

6 
 

Table 1: Public Health Outcome Indicators associated with Risk-taking Behaviours 

  
 Salford England 

      
 

      
Calendar Year 

Indicator Measure 
Recent 
trend 

2016 2017 2018 2019 

16-17 year olds not in education, 
employment or training (NEET) or 

whose activity is not known 
% - 

7.3% 7.7% 7.3% 6.5% 

6.0% 6.0% 5.5% 5.5% 

First time entrants to the youth 
justice system 

Rate per 
100,000 

362.1 360.5 320.2 - 

331.7 296.4 238.5 - 

Under 18s conception rate / 
1,000 

Rate per 
1,000 

31.5 30.7 29.0 - 

18.8 17.8 16.7 - 

Children in care 
Rate per 
10,000 

103 * 95 103 103 

60 * 62 64 65 

       

      
Rolling 3 Year Period 

Indicator Measure 
Recent 
trend 

2014-15 
to 2016-

17 

2015-16 
to 2017-

18 

2016-17 
to 2018-

19 

2017-18 
to 2019-

20 

Admissions episodes for alcohol-
specific conditions - Under 18s 

Rate per 
100,000 - 

61.8 60.8 44.9 44.2 

34.2 32.9 31.6 30.7 

Hospital admissions due to 
substance misuse (15-24 years) 

Rate per 
100,000 - 

127.5 112.4 128.5 - 

91.6 87.9 83.1 - 

       

      
Financial Year 

Indicator Measure 
Recent 
trend 

2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 

Hospital admissions as a result of 
self-harm (10-24 years) 

Rate per 
100,000 

523.2 570.7 581.9 514.0 

430.5 407.1 421.2 444.0 

 

Page 22



 

7 
 

3.5. Research suggests a strong association between parenting style and a wide range of 
outcomes in adolescence (Chan and Koo, 2010). Rates of children in care are consistently 
and considerably higher than in England. 

 
3.6. For young people, the rate of hospital admissions in Salford due to self-harm, drug or alcohol 

misuse are all significantly higher than in England. 
 

3.7. Moreover, these data are also linked to other types of high-risk and potentially harmful 
behaviour, such as gang association, child sexual exploitation, gun and knife crime and 
running away from home. 

 
   

4. What Works 
 
There are several protective factors which guard against the likelihood of children and young 
people from becoming involved in problematic risk behaviour. Authoritative and supportive 
parenting is a key factor, which extends to the role of the local authority as a corporate parent of 
children in care (Chan and Koo, 2010). Adolescence is also a period within the life course when 
the social influence of peers is greatest and these relationships can also potentially be a protective 
factor (Blakemore, 2018). However, there are a number of specific approaches to mitigate risk 
behaviours cited within the literature: 
 
4.1. Contextual Safeguarding 

Traditional safeguarding practices are extremely important to protect children from risk of 
harm within family settings but they can become less relevant in adolescence. As adolescents 
become more independent, the risk of harm they are exposed to is often extra-familial in 
nature, coming from their association with peers and adults outside the family, both in person 
and online (Firmin and Knowles, 2020). Contextual safeguarding therefore attempts to work 
collaboratively with young people to understand these extra-familial risks and to protect 
against them, taking a strengths-based approach to build the young person’s resilience. 
 

4.2. Multi Systemic Therapy (MST) 
Originating in the United States, this is an intensive, short-term programme which is intended 
to work with families where young people are at risk of care or custody. This programme is 
predicated on the premise that there are multiple factors driving a young person’s challenging 
behaviour, thus requiring a multi-stranded approach for effective intervention. Cognitive 
behavioural and family therapies are used to address anti-social behaviour, crime and family 
conflict in the home. The programme requires significant input from clinical psychology and 
is expensive to deliver, although Bowyer and Wilkinson (2013) suggest that MST is cost 
effective, with a £5 saving against the future cost burden (crime, health, etc.) for every £1 
invested. 

 
4.3. Social Pedagogy 

Recognizing that growing up is a process of exposure to risk and building resilience, social 
pedagogy is an approach intended help young people learn to manage risks safely, so as to 
minimise their potential exposure to harm. Social pedagogic practice is predicated upon: 
 

 An holistic focus on a child’s needs and wellbeing, as well as support for the child’s 
development. 

Page 23



 

8 
 

 A non-hierarchical relationship between the child and the supportive adult, based on 
trust. 

 An acknowledgement of the rights of the child, where they are considered as 
competent individuals and where education isn’t an imposition but enables the child 
to think for themselves. 

 A recognition in the contribution of others and the wider community in empowering 
and supporting children to develop, as part of living in a democracy. 

 
Social pedagogical approaches have been implemented with limited success in the UK. 
Kemp (2011) mainly attributes this to a child protection orientation within the UK system, as 
opposed to the continental European approach which focus more heavily on child and family 
welfare. In order to overcome deficits in our understanding about the nuanced differences 
between the UK and European social pedagogical approaches, this would require a 
widespread programme of specialist education and training which would also prove costly. 

 
Of the three types of intervention listed above, the first two are only relevant to later in the life 
course, when risk-taking behaviour is well established. In respect of the latter, while the local 
system might apply social pedagogical principles, the full implementation of social pedagogy in a 
UK context has proven to be problematic and costly. Furthermore, while some of these 
approaches may have been used in Salford, albeit to a limited extent, the data suggests that they 
are insufficient alone to impact upon harmful risk-taking behaviour. For these reasons, a different 
approach is required with an upstream focus on prevention. 
 
In order to avoid risk behaviours in adolescence, the literature clearly advocates for the best start 
in childhood, in order to build individual resilience through a stable homelife, effective parenting, 
a good education and a nurturing network of support. Where some of these ingredients are absent 
for some of our children and young people in Salford, the Early Help system might go some way 
to compensate but it is evident from the local data that a proportion of our children and young 
people are slipping through the net. 
 
It is therefore proposed that an alternative provision is commissioned which will operate around 
the difficult period of transition into secondary education. This provision will seek to work 
intensively with the identified young person to build individual resilience and reduce emerging risk 
behaviours. This may also include facilitating wider access to support services for the family of 
the young person, where the family circumstances may be having a detrimental effect on the 
young person’s environment (e.g. poverty – food banks, debt advice, employment support, etc.). 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 24



 

9 
 

5. The Proposed Provision – An Intensive Youth Support Service 
 
The proposed investment would be used to fund five specialist youth worker posts over an initial 
two-year period:  

 
5.1. Aims  

This provision is intended to focus on Salford Children and Young People who are 
experiencing the greatest challenges in their upbringing and who face the greatest risks of 
becoming involved in entrenched and highly problematic risk behaviour in adolescence and 
adulthood.  
 
The provision will work intensively and systematically to support those Children and Young 
People taken onto caseload, in order to reduce their progression towards engagement in risk 
behaviours.  
 
It is anticipated that in achieving the specified performance measures associated with this 
provision, that this investment will contribute to an overall reduction in the population (and 
local) outcome indicators associated with risk behaviours.  

 
5.2. Objectives  

The provision will actively seek to engage with stakeholders and wider partners to support the 
identification of such Children and Young People as early in their life course as possible (see 
selection panel below). Particular attention will be given to those Children and Young People 
who are making the transition from primary to secondary school.  
 
The purpose of the provision will be to provide support to Children and Young People who are 
taken onto caseload, in order to address emerging cases of risk behaviours and prevent a 
deterioration of their behaviour to the point where this impacts upon their ability to realise their 
potential. 
 
As such, each post will work intensively with reduced caseload sizes to enable workers to 
support Children and Young People to overcome a broad range of complex and interrelated 
issues which may be driving their behaviour. Postholders will be able to draw upon and 
facilitate access to a wide range of existing resources within Salford, for Children and Young 
People to address any underlying issues which may be driving their risk-taking behaviour. 
 
The five posts will be located across Salford (North, West, South and Central) within each of 
the existing Youth Service Teams and will be directly supported by the most senior Youth 
Workers in each area. They will link in with a full range of local provision, including the 
following: 
 

 Primary/secondary schools  
 0-19 Service  
 Route 29  
 The Bridge 
 Social Care 
 Early Help  
 SHINE Sexual Health Services 
 Early Break 
 Others, as appropriate. 

Page 25



 

10 
 

 
5.3. Recruitment and Social Value  

For each of the five posts recruited, both personal and professional credibility will be incredibly 
important in order to maximise engagement and achievement of outcomes with the target 
cohort. For this reason, postholders will be recruited from Salford young people with lived 
experience of being involved in risk behaviours. 
  
The posts will be initiated as part of the government's Kickstart scheme and supported through 
Salford’s Apprenticeship scheme. In addition, one of the five posts will be supported via 
Contain Funding. Contain Funding relates to monies set aside from the Public Health Grant to 
pay for apprenticeships that focus on Building Back a Fairer Salford (Marmot et al., 2020).  
 
The posts will be remunerated in line with Salford City Council’s commitment to 
the minimum living wage. There is an intention that the five posts will lead to long-term 
sustainable employment, so that this investment will also contribute to securing the 
development of Salford’s future workforce. Finally, in recruiting local young (and potentially 
vulnerable) people to these posts, providing training and employment, as well paying them at 
the minimum living wage, this investment will also create significant additional benefits in 
terms of social value.  
 

  
5.4. Career Progression 

Initially postholders would be employed for the first 6 months via the government’s Kickstart 
scheme. This would allow a young person to be paid for a 25 hour per week post for up to 6 
months, at national minimum wage.  All costs directly relating to pay during this period would 
be fully funded by the government scheme, at no cost to Salford City Council. The only 
additional costs could potentially come from small pension contributions (depending on the 
age of the young person and whether they opt to stay in the local government pension scheme) 
but there is an agreement that these will be supported through the corporate budget.   
 
The period of employment under the Kickstart scheme will be used to train and support 
postholders into the workplace, while also allowing the Integrated Youth Support Service to 
incrementally increase responsibility in line with individual development. Personalised training 
plans for each postholder during this period will focus on areas for improvement, in order to 
maximise their readiness for the challenges ahead. 
 
The Kickstart scheme will provide a direct transition into further full-time employment via an 
apprenticeship of 18 months. Under the apprenticeship programme, postholders will be 
expected to work a 35-hour week and undertake a formal youth work qualification.  Salford 
Council is committed to providing a minimum living wage and these posts will be remunerated 
accordingly.  
 
 

5.5. Support and Training  
Consideration has been given to the fact that this provision is predicated upon 
previously vulnerable young people being asked to support some of the most challenging 
children and young people in Salford. Local experience has also shown that young people 
require a lot of additional support into employment. Multiple layers of support will therefore be 
provided to the postholders to enable them to carry out their duties safely and effectively. 
 

Page 26



 

11 
 

Initially, the caseloads of the postholders will be carefully managed to ensure a gradual 
increase of responsibilities across the first 6 to 12 months in post. It is proposed that caseload 
sizes number no more than 6 to begin with, rising to a maximum of 12 after a year in 
post. This is intended to provide an appropriate level of support for the postholders at both the 
beginning and throughout their ongoing employment. 
 
As part of a comprehensive programme of induction, postholders will visit professionals 
located in other services throughout the local system, including Complex Safeguarding, 
Connexions, Youth Justice, SHINE Sexual Health Service, Early Break and Route 29. 
 
The Integrated Youth Support Service will ensure that each postholder receives weekly 
individual supervision, providing support with orientation in post, ongoing identification of 
training and development needs, caseload management, performance management, 
stakeholder engagement and any other issues as they arise. Safeguarding will be prioritised 
as a key element of that supervision, with postholders receiving frequent group supervision 
alongside student social workers. The purpose of this element of supervision is intended to 
help postholders to recognise and manage risk appropriately, understand if local thresholds 
have been met and the most appropriate action to take in each case, including referrals into 
social care. 
 
All postholders will be trained towards a Level 3 Certificate in Youth Work Practice in England 
(ABC&CERTA Awards). This is a nationally recognised youth work qualification which is widely 
accepted across the Greater Manchester region, thereby increasing the employability of 
the postholders beyond the lifetime of this proposed project. 
 
In addition, all postholders will receive ongoing safeguarding training across a broad range of 
thematic areas which are relevant to their role. This training will be provided through Salford 
Safeguarding Children Partnership and should include:  
 

 Basic Awareness 
 Foundation 
 Drug and Alcohol 
 Sexual Health 

 
 

5.6. Referral Criteria 
Many of the most vulnerable Children and Young People of Salford will be known to services 
long before they become engaged in problematic risk behaviours in later adolescence. The 
transition period from primary to secondary school is recognised as a difficult period when the 
first signs of future problematic risk behaviours can begin to emerge. Early identification of 
concerns and intervention is vital to ensuring that Children and Young People maintain a 
healthy trajectory to achieving their potential. 
 
For this reason, this pilot will seek to capture Children and Young People as early in the life 
course as possible. The pilot will act as an additional alternative provision for Children and 
Young People, as a precursor to any subsequent Early Help/Social Work intervention, with the 
intention of avoiding this altogether. 
 
Thus, professionals who have an emerging concern about a young person will be able to make 
a referral into the Intensive Youth Support Service via The Bridge. It is anticipated that referring 

Page 27



 

12 
 

professionals will typically be teaching staff, school coordinators, school nurses or similar, 
although other sources will be considered. In addition, examples of emerging concerns which 
do not meet Early Help/social care intervention could include: 

 

 Risk of exclusion 

 Sexting/healthy relationships/online safety 

 Low-level mental health problems (resilience, social skills, ways to wellbeing) 

 Physical inactivity and unhealthy weight 

 Exposure to or perpetrating bullying. 
 
 
Each referral will then be triaged individually by Early Help Practioners at The Bridge. Those 
cases that meet existing thresholds for Early Help/social care intervention will be managed 
accordingly but for all others below those thresholds, they would be considered eligible for 
acceptance onto this pilot. Eligible referrals would then be considered and accepted by the 
selection panel (see below), based on current considerations relating to caseload and service 
capacity.  

 
5.7. Selection Process 

With a total of 30-60 Children and Young People permitted on caseload at any one time, it is 
essential for this resource to be prioritised towards those Children and Young People who 
need it most. Although referrals might be considered as eligible according to the referral 
criteria, there is a danger that the demand could eclipse service capacity. For this reason, 
some sort of mechanism or process will need to be established, to prioritise the acceptance of 
referrals into the provision, based on individual need and the current service caseload 
capacity.   
 
In addition, emerging concerns about a particular young person may manifest themselves 
across different parts of the system. It is therefore vital to be able to draw on multiple sources 
of intelligence across the system, so that an informed decision can be taken about whether 
a particular young person warrants inclusion on caseload. 
 
While it has been suggested that a selection panel could be established to consider each 
referral, local discussions are currently exploring whether the existing Triangulation Meetings 
could serve this function. Irrespective of the type of mechanism or process which is agreed 
upon, the final decision about whether a referral is accepted rests with the panel/Triangulation 
meeting. 
 
It should also be noted that the dynamic nature and fluidity of need across this cohort 
will require the panel/Triangulation meeting to constantly manage the overall caseload of this 
provision, by stepping down support for successful progression, as well as accepting new 
priority cases. One of the first tasks in the mobilisation of this project will be to agree the 
mechanism for prioritising and accepting referrals.  
 

  
 
 
 
 
 

Page 28



 

13 
 

5.8. Casework  
All proposed interventions to be undertaken with a young person will be subject to a prior 
discussion between the postholder and their line manager. All case work would be rooted in 
the values of youth work being strengths-based, young person-centred, while ensuring the 
voice of the young person is heard. The case work will also ensure that the young person 
identifies their own priorities and takes ownership of their development plan. 
 
Casework across the cohort would consist of a traditional 4-phased approach as follows: 
 

 Relationship Building: 
Getting to know the young person and family, context, other professionals who are 
involved and explaining the nature of the provision to the young person, roles and 
responsibilities. 
 

 Assessment: 
Initial assessment of need/risk and the use of various assessment tools (Strengths 
and Difficulties/My Star/WEMWBS and Early Help) to ascertain status on entry to the 
service. 
 

 Intervention: 
Activities are planned with the young person, in partnership with other professionals, 
identifying the best activity to respond to specific need/risk e.g. social skills, anger, 
etc. 
 

 Evaluation: 
Review of achievements against planned actions, including distance travelled and 
incorporating the views of wider stakeholders. Discussion with manager whether to 
close or continue to work the case, or to refer on elsewhere. 

 
The young person will engage with the provision on a voluntary basis and the casework will 
be conducted in informal settings. Postholders will be able to draw upon the full suite of 
established resources at the disposal of the Integrate Youth Service, such as sexual health, 
relationships, anger management, etc. Likewise, where family circumstances are affecting 
the young person’s progress, the postholder with also be able to offer the wider family support 
via a referral into the Early Help system, subject to consent.  

  
  
5.9. Performance Measures and Evaluation  

As indicated earlier, there are a range of population level outcomes that are associated with 
problematic risk behaviour in adolescence and this provision is intended to contribute to a 
reduction in those outcome indicators. However, accountability for population level outcomes 
resides with the wider system and not with a single provision (Friedman, 2015). 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 29



 

14 
 

Figure 1: Relationship between Intrinsic and Extrinsic Outcomes from Youth Work at an     
Individual and Societal Level 

 

 
 
 
In a report commissioned by the Local Government Association, McNeil et al. (2019) sought 
to develop an outcomes framework through which the youth sector could demonstrate the 
value of their interventions with Children and Young People. Citing a research study 
undertaken by the University of Chicago about how Children and Young People develop into 
adults, they mapped the relationship between intrinsic and extrinsic outcomes at both the 
individual and societal level (see figure 1 above). 
 
McNeil et al. (2019) further argued that youth work with Children and Young People across 
seven ‘clusters of capabilities’ would support them to build their capacity and resilience. In 
doing so, if such work was effective, Children and Young People would be better equipped to 
make informed choices, thereby increasing their protective and reducing their risk factors, 
enabling them to engage only in ‘healthy’ risk-taking (see figure 2) 
 
Figure 2: Factors that have an effect on a young person’s outcomes 
 

 
 

Page 30



 

15 
 

 
This provides the rationale for the logic model for this provision which can be found in appendix 
B. The provision will not be held accountable for the population health outcomes listed in this 
logic model. Instead, the Integrated Youth Support Service will need to provide evidence of 
the project’s success in achieving the short-term and intermediate outcomes. Performance 
measures will focus on the distance travelled by each young person, in terms of their personal, 
social and educational development around the seven ‘clusters’: 
 

 Emotion Management 

 Communication 

 Confidence and Agency 

 Resilience and Determination 

 Creativity 

 Relationship Management and Leadership 

 Planning and Problem-solving 

 
The proposed investment being sought includes payment for a full and independent evaluation 
of the pilot over its lifetime. A local university will be commissioned to support the Integrated 
Youth Support Service to develop an appropriate performance management framework which 
will be used to inform the final evaluation. This framework will be agreed and signed off by all 
stakeholders prior to the commencement of the pilot. 
 
The Integrated Youth Support Service will then draw on existing measurement tools (e.g. 
Strengths/Weakness, My Star, WEMWBS, Early Help Assessments), to collect and populate 
data against the performance management framework. This data will be used to determine 
each young person’s status pre- and post-intervention across a range of measures, in order 
to be able to map distance travelled in each case.  
 
In addition, the Integrated Youth Support Service will also provide qualitative evidence of the 
progress made in each case, from the young person, parents/guardians, teacher, social 
worker of other professional. Together, both quantitative and qualitative data will be used to 
inform the final evaluation. 

 
  

5.10. Contribution to a Project Coordinator Post, Salford Foundation 
Salford Foundation is a charitable organisation that provides opportunities for young people, 
in order to create better futures for themselves. The charity is about to initiate a new project 
in Salford, which focusses on engagement with young males who are in danger of becoming 
socially excluded and potentially involved in problematic risk behaviour. 
 
This proposal includes a contribution of £20,000 towards a project coordinator post which will 
sit within Salford Foundation but will act as a liaison and conduit for the Risk Behaviour pilot. 
It is intended that this post will work closely with the Integrated Youth Service to deliver the 
outcomes specified within the performance management framework.  

 
 
 
 

Page 31



 

16 
 

6. Costs  
The basic annual salary cost of a full-time unqualified sessional youth worker (JNC scp 5) is 
£19,308 based on a 35-hour working week. This equates to £24,600 with oncosts for each post. 
 
Total costs have therefore been calculated as follows: 
 
Year 1    
 
£NIL  = Initial 6-month Kickstart Scheme. 
£49,200  = 6-month salary with oncosts (4 x £12,300)  
£12,300 = Contain Funding (single post) 
£20,000 = Coordinator Post, Salford Foundation  
 
Year 2     
£98,400  = 12-month salary with oncosts (4 x £24,600) 
£24,600 = Contain Funding (single post) 
 
Year 3    
£49,200  = 6-month salary with oncosts (4 x £12,300)  
£12,300 = Contain Funding (single post) 
 
£10,000 = Evaluation Report 
 
£276,000 = Total Investment funded from the Public Health Grant  

 
 
 

 
7. Conclusion and Recommendations 

Salford data suggests that a significant proportion of Children and Young People show evidence 
of engaging in a range of problematic risk behaviours and further action is certainly needed to 
address this. 
 
While the evidence review alluded to potential actions to help reduce risk behaviour in 
adolescence, they are either too expensive to implement or occur too late in the life course to be 
consistent with Salford’s primary focus of early intervention and prevention. 
 
For these reasons, this business case proposes an investment in the innovative approach 
outlined, to act earlier in the life course in order to ameliorate this trend. This recommendation is 
made, subject to the pilot being evaluated at its conclusion to determine its efficacy. 

 
 
 
Steven Gavin 
Public Health Strategic Manager – Start Well 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 32



 

17 
 

Appendix A: References 
 
 
Barter, C. et al. (2015) ‘Safeguarding Teenage Intimate Relationships (STIR): Connecting online 
and offline contexts and risks’. Bristol: University of Bristol. 
 
Bhabra, S., Dinos, S. and Ghate, D. (2006) ‘Young People, Risk and Protection: A major survey of 
secondary schools in On Track areas’. London: Policy Research Bureau. 
 
Blakemore, S.-J., (2018) ‘Avoiding Social Risk in Adolescence’. Association for Psychological 
Science 27(2), pp. 116-122. 
 
Bowyer, S. and Wilkinson, J. (2013) ‘Evidence Scope: models of adolescent care provision’. 
Dartington: Research in Practice. 
 
Brandon, M. et al. (2020). Complexity and challenge: a triennial analysis of SCRs 2014-2017: Final 
report. London: DfE. 
 
Brown, R. and Ward, H. (2013) ‘Decision-making within a Child’s Timeframe. An overview of current 
research evidence for family justice professionals concerning child development and the impact of 
maltreatment’. London: Childhood Wellbeing Research Centre. 
 
Calkins, S. (2010) ‘Psychobiological Models of Adolescent Risk: Implications for prevention and 
intervention’. Developmental Psychobiology 52 (3). 
 
Chan, T. and Koo, A. (2010) ‘Parenting Style and Youth Outcomes in the UK’. European 
Sociological Review 26 (2). 
 
Cossar, J., Brandon, M., Bailey, S., Belderson, P., Biggart, L. and Sharpe, D. (2013) ‘It Takes a Lot 
to Build Trust.’ Recognition and Telling: Developing earlier routes to help for children and young 
people. London: Office of the Children’s Commissioner. 
 
Firmin, C. (2017) ‘Contextual Risk, Individualised Responses: An Assessment of Safeguarding 
Responses to Nine Cases of Peer-on-Peer Abuse’. Child Abuse Review. 
 
Firmin, C. and Knowles, R. (2020) ‘The legal and policy framework for Contextual Safeguarding 
approaches: A 2020 update on the 2018 legal briefing’. Luton: University of Bedfordshire. 
 
Firmin, C. and Lloyd, J. (2020) ‘Contextual Safeguarding: A 2020 update on the operational, 
strategic and conceptual framework’. Luton: University of Bedfordshire. 
 
Foshee, V. A. et al. (2014) ‘The Effects of the Evidence-Based Safe Dates Dating Abuse Prevention 
Program on Other Youth Violence Outcomes’. Prevention Science, Volume 15, p. 907–916. 
 
Friedman, M. (2015) ‘Trying Hard is Not Good Enough: How to Produce Measurable Improvement 
for Customers and Communities’. Sante Fe, New Mexico: Parse Publishing. 
 
Hill, N. (2019) ‘Serious Case Review –Chris’. London: Newham Safeguarding Children Board. 
 

Page 33



 

18 
 

Jay, A. (2014) ‘Independent Inquiry into Child Sexual Exploitation in Rotherham (1997 – 2013)’. 
Rotherham: Rotherham LSCB. 
 
Johnson, F. (2013) ‘Redacted overview report on the serious case review relating to Tom and Vic’. 
Kingston: Kingston LSCB. 
 
Kemp, R. (2011) ‘Social pedagogy: differences and links to existing childcare practice’. Children 
Australia 36 (4). 
 
Lloyd, J. (2018) ‘Abuse through sexual image sharing in schools: response and responsibility’. 
Gender and Education 32 (6). 
 
Marmot, M., Allen, J., Goldblatt, P., Herd, E. and Morrison, J. (2020) Build Back Fairer: The Covid-
19 Review. London: The Health Foundation. 
 
McNeil, B., Millar, G. and Fernande, S. (2019) ‘A Framework of Outcomes for Young People 2.0: 
Revisiting and revising the Catalyst Framework of Outcomes 2012’. London: The Centre for Youth 
Impact and the Local Government Association. 
 
Mulder, E., Brand, E., Bullens, R. and van Marle, H. (2011) ‘Risk factors for overall recidivism and 
severity of recidivism in serious juvenile offenders. International Journal of Offender Therapy and 
Comparative Criminology 55 (1). 
 
Rees, G., Gorin, S., Jobe, A., Medforth, R. and Goswami, H. (2010) ‘Safeguarding Young People: 
Responding to young people aged 11 to 17 who are maltreated’. London: The Children’s Society. 
 
Romanou, E. and Belton, E. (2020). ‘Isolated and Struggling: Social Isolation and the risk of child 
maltreatment, in lockdown and beyond’. London: National Society for the Prevention of Cruelty to 
Children (NCPCC). 
 
Romer, D., Duckworth, A., Sznitman, S. and Park, S. (2010) ‘Can Adolescents Learn Self-control? 
Delay of gratification in the development of control over risk-taking’. Prevention Science 11 (3). 
 
Smallbone, S., Rayment-Mchuhgh, S. & Smith, D. (2013) Youth Sexual Offending: Context, Good 
ENough Lives, and ENgaging with a Wider Prevention Agenda. International Journal of Behavioral 
Consultation and Therapy, 8(3-4), pp. 49-54. 
 
United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime (2020). International Standards on Drug Misuse 
Prevention. 2nd Ed. Vienna: United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime. 
 

Page 34



 

19 
 

Appendix B: Risk Behaviours Logic Model 
 

Problem Statement: 

A greater proportion of Children and Young People in Salford become involved in problematic risk behaviour in adolescence. 
 

Programme Goal(s): 

To engage intensively with Children and Young People earlier in the life course, so as to build individual confidence and resilience and equip Children and 

Young People to make better choices and engage in risk-taking safely. 

Activities 
 

Outputs 
 

Short-term & Intermediate 
Outcomes 

Long-term Outcomes 
 

Impact 
 

Identification and 
assessment of CYP  

 Number of CYP on caseload CYP supported to develop 
increased capability around: 
 

 Emotion Management 

 Communication 

 Confidence and Agency 

 Resilience and Determination 

 Creativity 

 Relationship Management and 
Leadership 

 Planning and Problem-solving 

CYP better equipped to 
achieve: 
 

 Good level of educational 
attainment 

 Further education, 
employment or training 

 Financial inclusion 

 Good physical and mental 
health 

 Feelings of trust and 
connectedness 

 Civic and democratic 
participation 

 16-17 year olds not in 
education, employment or 
training (NEET) or whose 
activity is not known 

Co-production of a multi-
agency support plan  

 Number of CYP multi-agency 
plans co-produced 

 First time entrants to the youth 
justice system 

Regular, sustained and 
meaningful engagement 
with CYP (and family) 

 Number of CYP still engaged 
with provision after 4 weeks 

 Under 18s conception rate / 
1,000 

Regular, sustained and 
meaningful engagement 
between CYP and wider 
partners 

 Number of CYP referrals 
made to wider partners 

 Number of CYP still engaged 
with partners after 4 weeks 

 Admissions episodes for 
alcohol-specific conditions - 
Under 18s 

 Hospital admissions due to 
substance misuse (15-24 
years) 

Closure of cases following 
a successful outcome 

 Number of CYP on caseload  Hospital admissions as a result 
of self-harm (10-24 years) 

Rationale(s): Assumptions 

 Working with CYP across ‘clusters of capabilities’ can help them to build capacity 

and resilience, leading to better choices and a reduction in problematic risk 
behaviour in adolescence (McNeil et al., 2019). 

 The provision is able to correctly identify those CYP at greatest risk of problematic 
risk-raking in adolescence. 

 Effective engagement with all CYP on caseload is maintained. 

External Factors: 

 Wider determinants drive health and social inequality, leading to a greater exposure of some CYP to the driving forces for problematic risk behaviours. 

 Success of this intervention is dependent upon the extent and quality of external support/provision that can be called upon for the benefit of CYP on caseload. 

 

P
age 35



T
his page is intentionally left blank



0 
 

Part 1: Open to the Public – Item No. 

 

REPORT OF Director of People Charlotte Ramsden   

 

TO 
Childrens Commissioning Committee  

 

ON  

12 May 2021    

 

TITLE: Salford Multi Agency Transition into Adulthood Policy and Process  

 

RECOMMENDATIONS:  

 Childrens Commissioning Committee are asked to note the ongoing work to improve 
transitions for young people in Salford  

 To approve the policy and support ongoing implementation 

 To support the development of a  resource review to support the work   
 

 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY: Work has been ongoing to support transitions in Salford for many 

years. The policy document is now presented to the Childrens Commissioning Committee for sign 
off prior to final approval at Health and Care Commissioning Committee.  

Often we know that young people do not fit only one criteria for transition and can sometimes fall 
between the gaps. The policy combines to create overarching principles and develop an approach 
to coordinate the transition effectively.  Using multi agency approaches and creating a shared 
system for identification Salford will ensure the right professionals support the transition. The 
policy document is the start of the journey. For some areas of transition processes are well 
established but where pathways have not been developed previously ongoing work will be needed 
to explore the risks and need for investment for some elements. This is an ambitious piece of work 
and will see positive outcomes for the young people of Salford.  

 

DETAILS: 
The Salford Multi- Agency Transition Policy and Process primarily sets out the young person’s 
expected journey to adulthood and the partnership working required between Salford Integrated 
Care Organisation, Salford Special Educational Needs (SEN), Children’s Social Care, Salford 
Royal Children’s Community Services, Salford Children’s and Adolescent Mental Health Services 
(CAMHS)(Manchester Foundation Trust MFT), Greater Manchester Mental Health (GMMH) and 
Salford Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG. 

Page 37

Agenda Item 7



1 
 

The policy draws together all current national, regional, and local strategies, policies and 
procedures to ensure that Salford’s health and social care services are  compliant with our 
statutory duties across children’s and adult’s legislation to ensure Salford achieve high quality 
transition for the young people we support. 
The aim of the policy is to provide a framework to practitioners to increase the quality of 
experiences and opportunities of young people moving from childhood to adulthood who have one 
or more difficulties which could include special education needs, disabilities, and mental health 
difficulties. 
Young people experience a variety of transitions throughout their life from birth to early years and 
childhood into adulthood. Transitions are often defined as a process of psychological, social, and 
educational change at various points in time throughout the life course, and a young person’s 
experience of these are significantly influenced by the context, environment, family, and 
relationships in their life. 
 
Some young people with health, or care needs and or who require services will often experience 
transitions across multiple services and systems, particularly when moving from childhood to 
adulthood. The more complex their need, the more challenging transitions can be for some young 
people; therefore it is important it feels seamless and positive to the young people 
 
Salford’s Transitions Policy recognises these challenges and aims to make sure that service and 
processes are person centred and effectively co-ordinated through strong integrated governance 
arrangements that support the best possible outcomes for young people transitioning between 
services and from childhood to adulthood. 
 

16-25 Multi Agency 

Transition Policy_Summary.pptx
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

      
 

 

 

 

 

Page 38



2 
 

 

  

Supporting Young People in Salford Transition 
from Childhood to Adulthood 

Page 39



3 
 

 

Contents 
 

Page 

1. What is the policy about  3 

2. Where will it be used  5 

3. Why is it important  8 

4. What’s new in the version 11 

5. Policy and procedure  11 

 5.1 The 16- 25 Multi Agency Hub: Salford’s growing Up in Salford Preparing for 
Adulthood Delivery model 

12 

  5.1a What it might look like at each stage for young people (table) 12 

  5.1b What all young people can expect from 14+ and how it will be delivered 
(table) 

14 

 5.2 The 16- 25 Multi Agency Hub  16 

  5.2a Who does the Multi-Agency Hub Cover 16 

  5.2b Overview of the 16-25 Multi –Agency Hub 18 

  5.2c 16-25 Multi –Agency Hub Referral and Allocation Process and Procedure  20 

 5.3  Salford’s 16- 18 Specialist Pathway’s Getting more help / Getting risk support 21 

6. Roles and Responsibilities  22 

 6.1 The strategic transition group 22 

 6.2 Multi Agency Hub members: Transition Champions 23 

 6.3  Transition Support Team (Adult Social Care) 24 

7. Monitoring Effectiveness  25 

8. Abbreviations and definitions  25 

9. References and supporting documents 26 

10. Document Control Information 29 

11. Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) screening tool 30 

Appendices 31 

Pathway 1:  Salford Generic YP Transition to Adult Social Care:  Salford’s response 
and approach to the statutory duties that are set out in the Care Act 2014 in supporting 
young people with additional needs source accommodation  

 

Page 40



4 
 

 

Contents 
 

Page 

Pathway 2:  Young People Leaving Care: How Salford will support young people who 
are looked after and have additional need as set out in the Care Act 2014, Leaving Care 
Act 2000 & The Children Act 1989 guidance and regulations: Volume 3: Planning transition 
to adulthood for care leavers (2010) 

 

Pathway 3: The Mental Health Transition Pathway:  How Salford will support young 
people transitioning from children’s to adult mental health teams, and the joint working 
between GMMH, MFT, and the Salford Care Organisation 

 

Pathway 4: Transitional Safeguarding: How young people who are likely to be 
vulnerable but fall under the threshold for adult services will be supported and how we will 
ensure young people who are at risk of harm or abuse are identified and supported (18+) 

 

Pathway 5: Transition from Children’s Health teams to Adult Health Teams.  Set out 
a number of health pathways and process to ensure that young people transition to adult 
health team and develop the skills to self-manage their conditions.  This includes:  
 

- NHS Continuing Health Care 
- Neuro- Diversity Pathway 
- Allied Health Professional Pathway 
- Children’s Nursing to District Nurses 
- Secondary Care Asthma Diabetes  
-  

 

Pathway 6: 16-25 EHCP Pathway:  Sets out what young people transitioning from an 
EHCP can expect and the process for new referral for an EHCP  

 

Pathway 7:  Vulnerable Young People Housing Pathway: Set out the agreement between 
the housing and Social Services for 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 1.  What is the policy about? 1. 
Page 41



5 
 

8 

                                                                                                                                                             Back to contents page 

The Salford Multi- Agency Transition Policy and Process primarily sets out the young person’s 

expected journey to adulthood and the partnership working required between Salford Integrated 

Care Organisation, Salford Special Educational Needs (SEN), Children’s Social Care, Salford 

Royal Children’s Community Services, Salford Children’s and Adolescent Mental Health Services 

(CAMHS)(Manchester Foundation Trust MFT), Greater Manchester Mental Health (GMMH) and 

Salford Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG. 

The policy draws together all current national, regional, and local strategies, policies and 

procedures to ensure that Salford’s health and social care services are  compliant with our 

statutory duties across children’s and adult’s legislation to ensure Salford achieve high quality 

transition for the young people we support. 

The aim of the policy is to provide a framework to practitioners to increase the quality of 

experiences and opportunities of young people moving from childhood to adulthood who have one 

or more difficulties which could include special education needs, disabilities, and mental health 

difficulties. 

Young people experience a variety of transitions throughout their life from birth to early years and 
childhood into adulthood. Transitions are often defined as a process of psychological, social, and 
educational change at various points in time throughout the life course, and a young person’s 
experience of these are significantly influenced by the context, environment, family, and 
relationships in their life. 
 
Some young people with health, or care needs and or who require services will often experience 
transitions across multiple services and systems, particularly when moving from childhood to 
adulthood. The more complex their need, the more challenging transitions can be for some young 
people; therefore it is important it feels seamless and positive to the young people 
 
Salford’s Transitions Policy recognises these challenges and aims to make sure that service and 
processes are person centred and effectively co-ordinated through strong integrated governance 
arrangements that support the best possible outcomes for young people transitioning between 
services and from childhood to adulthood. 
 
Our Transitions Policy aims to deliver on Salford’s 0-25 partnership vision which sets out that we 
want: 

“All children and young people to achieve their full potential.” 

The Policy has been designed to enable people in Salford to ‘Start Well, Live Well and Age Well’, 
and our mission is to ensure: 
 
Children and young people are supported to develop independence and transition smoothly 
and successfully between settings, across children’s and adult systems and into adulthood  
 
 ‘Transitions’ is recognised in the following Salford strategies as a key priority, including: 
 

 Salford’s All Age Mental Health Strategy  

Page 42



6 
 

 Salford’s Thrive Plan 

 Salford’s Education and Inclusion Strategy and Action Plan 

 Salford’s SEND Strategy  

 Salford’s Integrated Neighbour strategy 

 
Our Policy recognises the difficulties that many young people and adults experience in transitioning 
across services and the ways in which we can help to support successful transitions. These 
principles underpin our approach around co-ordination and collaboration between services; 
 

 Person-centred focus, involving the young person and their parents in decision making; 

 Starting the transitions planning process early; 

 Increased information about available options; 

 More support for families;  

 Dedicated transitions staff; and  

 Appropriate training for staff. 

 
To achieve this Salford have developed:  

 Salford’s Growing Up and Preparing for Adulthood Delivery Support Model 

 Salford’s 16- 25 Multi Agency Hub which enables clear concise cross organisation 

processes and systems, and ensures a golden thread, from strategic objectives to 

operational practice  

 Specialist Transition Pathways  

 A 16-25 Multi Agency Operational Framework and Preparing for Adult hood Practitioners 

guide 

This Policy has been developed collaboratively through a multi-agency partnership and by listening 

to the voice (needs and wishes) of young people and adults in Salford. It aims to deliver on the ‘we 

statements’ developed by children, young people and adults in Salford who have lived experience 

of transitions between services (see below). We will ensure that our Transitions Policy and 

processes delivers on these expectations of services and supports the best possible experience of 

transition. 

Page 43



7 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

There are a number of documents that should be read alongside this policy which are 

documented in section 9 

If you have any concerns about the content of this document please contact the author or 

advise the Document Control Administrator 

 

 

 

Back to contents page 

2.1 This Policy intends to support the joint working across all agencies involved with supporting 

young people to transition to adulthood in Salford.  Salford understands that transition for young 

people with additional needs can be difficult and complex and that it is important that support is 

provided to young people to prevent and delay them from requiring lifelong service.  Salford is 

committed to continually developing strengths based working and using the underlying principles 

of trauma informed care and the support sequence.   The exact model used may differ between 

teams, however to illustrate this for young people the THRIVE model has been adopted as the 

primary model 

 

 Where will it be used? 2. 

Page 44



8 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

This Policy is wide reaching and its success requires the seamless joint working across a number 

of agencies. The policy outlines how the following agencies will work together: 

 Salford Royal Foundation Trust  

 Salford Local Authority 

 Salford Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) 

 Greater Manchester Mental Health (GMMH) 

 Manchester Foundation Trust (MFT)   

Within these agencies, the following Children’s and Adult Services will work together to 

understand their role in supporting the transition of young people to adulthood:  

 Adult Social Care (Transition Support Team, Community Mental Health teams, Integrated 

Care teams, Learning Disability Team, Sensory Team) 

 Children’s Social Care (Children with Disabilities team, Looked After Children team (LAC), 

Child in Need team (CIN), Child Protection Team, Early Help, Next Steps Leaving Care 

service) 

 Children’s and Adult safeguarding teams including Complex Safeguarding Team 

 Special Educational Needs Team 

 Children’s and Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS) (Manchester Foundation Trust 

MFT) 

 Children’s Health (Children’s Community Nursing Team, Therapy Services, Community 

Paediatric Service  

 NHS Funded Care Team (encompassing Children and Young People’s Continuing Care 

and NHS Continuing Healthcare for adults 

 Adult Mental Health (GMMH) 

 District Nurse (SRFT) 

Page 45



9 
 

 Children and Adults Commissioning (CCG) 

In implementing this policy and pathways, those agencies and teams involved in supporting 

transition should explore how they can increase the quality of experience of transition for young 

people and their families by jointly working with agencies and organisations in the following 

sectors: 

 Education and training (e.g. schools, colleges, universities, Connexions) 

 Housing  

 Community and voluntary organisations  

 Youth Services 

 Procurement and Market Management  

 Specialist support providers 

 Health organisations  

 Greater Manchester Police 

 Children’s Safeguarding Board 

 Safeguarding Adults Board 

 Primary mental health services 

 Healthwatch  

 Advocacy Services 

 Primary Care  

The above organisations should be involved in the operational implementation and strategic 

groups. 

2.2 This policy covers the following young people:  

 

Getting Advice - Getting Help: Young People and Carers (14-25) 

who require advice help with some focused goals-based input 

 

 Those who have an Education Health and Care Plan (EHCP) 

 Those who would benefit from support in planning for adult life but do not have an EHCP 

plan (e.g. those with high functioning autism, social, emotional, mental health needs or ill 

health) 

 

Getting More Help - Getting Risk Support: Young People (14-25) 

and Carers who require more extensive and specialised goal 

orientated help 

 Those who are likely to meet the eligibility criteria for adult social care and have care and 

support needs as set out in the Care Act 2014 

 Young people who currently receive services Under Section 17 of the Children Act 1989 

because of disability 

 Young People receiving services under The Chronically Sick & Disabled Persons Act 1970 

Page 46



10 
 

 Young people who are supported under Section 20 and Section 31 of the Children Act 1989 

who have an impairment or disability and are likely to require accommodation and support 

post 18 

 Those who may meet eligibility criteria for Children and Young People’s Continuing Care or 

NHS Continuing Healthcare for adults. 

 Those with complex needs (e.g. learning disabilities, physical disabilities, mental health 

difficulties, ADHD, ASD, chronic medical conditions)  

 Young Adults who are Looked after children (LAC) or formerly LAC, have an impairment or 

disability and are likely to have eligible needs under the Care Act, or be at risk of being a 

vulnerable adult, as per the Salford Vulnerable Adult Policy  

 Carers of young people preparing for adulthood and young carers who are themselves 

preparing for adulthood. 

 Young people supported under the Mental Health Act 1983 

 Young people who have had significant trauma which is likely to affect there functioning as 

an adult. 

This Policy only covers young people under 25 as it is specifically about the transition to adulthood 

and directing all organisations on how they are expected to work together to ensure a positive 

experience for young people and their families.   

 

 

 

Back to contents page 

3.1 Transition from children’s to adult services is often challenging for the young person and their 

families as it combines a change of services and professionals at a time when they are also 

negotiating wider changes to their lives which can be difficult without the added complexity of 

disability, ill health, or trauma. 

Historically transition has been described as feeling like a ‘cliff edge’ which can result in some 

young people reaching 18 who are already in receipt of support suddenly finding themselves 

without the care and support they need as an adult. 

Equally, those who do not reach the eligibility threshold of adult services but do have additional 

needs are at risk of having poorer outcomes in adulthood, poorer life chances and an increased 

likelihood of moving into crisis at a later stage of their lives. 

For young people with additional needs who do not currently receive care and support from 

statutory services there is a risk that those working with the young person are not equipped with 

the skills and knowledge to provide the information, advice, and guidance required and ensure a 

transition plan is in place that supports young person’s aspirations whilst developing the person’s 

practical skills required for adulthood. 

At the other end of the spectrum, where there are often lots of agencies and professionals 

involved with competing priorities and working under conflicting legislation and policy this can 

cause tensions and confusion and affect a positive holistic approach  

Why is it important? 3. 

Page 47



11 
 

Therefore it is important that  a multi- agency policy and process is formalised which takes into 

account all legislation and local and national policy and guidance and provides agencies and 

professionals a shared set of standards with clear protocols to increase consistency and quality of 

transition to adulthood for  young people, and  where appropriate effective transfer to and from 

services. 

3.2 It is widely accepted that the actual experiences of transition are not always positive, and that 

operational and strategic transition arrangements can be problematic.  For this reason, there has 

been a focus nationally on improving transitions over recent years.  This has accumulated in a 

comprehensive legislative framework across: 

 Part 3 Children and Families Act 2014 (SEND reforms) 

 Part 1 The Care Act 2014 

These two pieces of legislation work together to ensure that all young people with additional needs 

and disabilities are supported to prepare for adulthood from 14- 25 regardless of whether they 

currently receive or will require a commissioned service post 18.   

Part 3 of the Children and Families Act 2014 covers young people with special education needs 

and disabilities and introduces the SEND reforms for young people from 0-25 with a particular 

emphasis on preparing for adulthood at ages 14-25 in section 8. 

The Care Act 2014 replaces a number of different pieces of legislation and is based on prevention 

and wellbeing principles for those likely to require care and support.  Part 1 section 58-66 covers 

transition for children who may require care and support when they are an adult.  

The Care Act 2014 has duties both to the individual with needs but also adult and young carers.  

The whole of the Care Act 2014 is relevant to young people over 18 however the specific section 

on transition sets out the duties the authority has for young people. 

There is significant overlap between the two pieces of legislation which means they dovetail and 

provide a firm basis for practice.  Key themes are:  

 
 A personalised outcome focused approach to preparing for adulthood 

 Emphasis on enablement and prevention: Supporting young people using the wellbeing 

principles and strengths based approaches to prevent long term reliance on services.  

 A coordinated multi- agency approach, across education, health, social care, and other 

services, with a move towards joint commissioning and a tell us once ethos 

 Transition evolution a slow and progressive journey from 14- 25 with no cliff hanger 

transition at 18 

 New focus on Carers across Acts: ‘family’ transition rather than just the young person’s 

transition. 

 A real focus on co-production and the voice of the young person and family/carers. 

 Both acts have person centred planning at the heart but entwine this into the statutory 

requirements. 

 Emphasis on information, advice and guidance  

 

Page 48



12 
 

Throughout this policy and supporting documents we will refer back to the statutory duties that the 

Acts place on local authorities and how Salford intends to meet these duties. The 16-25 Multi 

Agency Hub Operational Framework and Preparing for Adulthood practitioners guide set out how 

this will be implemented in practice in Salford. 

The Mental Capacity Act 2005 

Underpinning these pieces of legislation is the Mental Capacity Act 2005.  The Mental Capacity 

Act (MCA) comes into force when a young person is 16.  The MCA starts with the assumption that 

everyone has capacity to make decisions unless proven otherwise.  Capacity is decision specific.  

All young people should be supported to maximise their capacity to enable them to make decision 

about their own lives.  Where a young person does not have capacity a best interest decision 

should be made as regards what is thought to be in their best interest.  This should also reflect 

what we think they would choose, although it will not always be possible to follow the young 

person’s wishes.    An unwise decision does not mean a person does not have capacity.  Work 

around rights and responsibilities are vital when developing or supporting a young people’s 

decision making 

3.3 The Policy also aims to ensure we adhere to and builds on relevant national guidance  

 The Children’s Act 1989  

 The Mental Health Act 1983 

 The Mental Capacity Act 2005 

 The Leaving Care Act 2000 

 The Human Rights Act 1998 

 The Health and Social Care Act 2012 

 The Equality Act 2010 

 SEN code of practice 2014 

 Preparing for adulthood  

 Building Independence through planning for transition: a quick guide for practitioners 

supporting young people (SCIE & NICE guidance)  

 Transition from Children’s to Adult Services for young people using health or social care 

services.  

 Ready Steady Go: Transition Programme 

 Strengths based social work 

 5 Year Forward View for Mental Heath 

 NHS Long Term Plan  

 Transforming care 

 Preparing for Adulthood: The Role of the Social Worker  

 National Framework for NHS Continuing Healthcare and NHS Funded Nursing Care 

(October 2018, Revised) 

 National Framework for Children and Young People’s Continuing Care, 2016 

 

The policy and supporting documents sets out how Salford intends to meet the statutory and best 

practice requirements for young people transitioning to adult life.  In the individual Pathways 

specific policy and guidance is referenced and full links/ references can be found in Section 9 of 

this document of all guidance that is listed.  

Page 49



13 
 

 

 

 

Back to contents page 

Salford has had a Joint Transition policy for 15 years.  Over the last 3 years, there have been a 

number of work streams to review transition arrangements and to develop better multi-agency 

working.  This new version includes: 

 The 16- 25 Multi –Agency Hub:  Operational and Strategic Infrastructure and framework 

 Thrive model of working  

 Increased emphasis on enablement and strengths based approaches 

 The role of the Transition Support Team 

 Development of specialist transition pathways.   

 

 

 

 

Back to contents page 

The scope of this Policy is broad both in terms of whom and what it covers.  Salford acknowledges 

that young people with additional needs will require different levels of support depending on:  

 Abilities/ difficulties 

 Natural support 

 Personal circumstance 

Salford has already developed a Growing Up and Preparing for Adulthood Delivery and 

Support Model which is based on enabling young people to develop the skills and independence 

required for adult life.  In order to deliver on the model and ensure we are compliant with 

legislation, policy, and best practice.  Salford is embedding: 

 The Growing Up and Preparing for Adulthood delivery and support model 

 The Multi-Agency Hub – Operational and Strategic infrastructure  

 Specialist Transition Pathways:  Local Service Level Agreements on how we will support 

young people 

How we intend to embed this will be set out in the: 

 16-25 Multi Agency Hub Operational Framework  

  Preparing for Adulthood practitioner’s guide 

 Implementation plan 

5.1 Salford’s Growing Up in Salford, Preparing for Adulthood Delivery Model 

 Policy and Procedure 

What’s in this new version? 4. 

5. 

Page 50



14 
 

There is a base level of support all young people in Salford with additional needs should expect 

regardless of what services are working with them, it is also important that when young people 

require more help or at risk support available is coordinated and readily available.   

The Salford Growing up in Salford, Preparing for Adulthood delivery model, set out what transition 

from childhood to adulthood should look like for young people, and what support Salford will 

provide to enable this.  

To support this Salford have staged transition to adulthood into three distinct stages, this applies 

to all young people who have additional needs and require advice or help.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

5.1a What it might look like at each stage for young people 

 
- What a young person life should look like 
- What will the young person be doing 

Stage 1: 
Growing Up 
in Salford 
 

Age 14-16 

 Young Person and Family are starting to be supported to think about the 
future.  

 Begin supporting young person to think about what they might want to do at 
college and what skills they might need to develop.  

 Visits to different colleges 
 Start to have Preparing for Adult Outcomes within their EHCP plan/ review 

process 
 Start to do more leisure and social activities away from the family 
 Start to develop independence, learn to do more things for themselves 
 Be supported to be involved in some decisions about their life  

 

Stage 2: 
Preparing for 
Adulthood  
 

16-18 
 

 Continuing to look at skill development, around money, travel, going places  
 Developing young person leisure and social networks  
 Young person to be much more in control and supported to make decisions  
 Young person start to think about what they would like to do when they leave 

education, employment, volunteering  
 Start to be supported to manage on health and conditions 

Developing maximum 
independence

Becoming 
an adult:

18-21 / 25

Preparing 
for 

adulthood: 
16-18 / 21

Growing 
up in 

Salford: 
14-16

Page 51



15 
 

 
- What a young person life should look like 
- What will the young person be doing 

 Start to plan for the future, where they will live, how they would like to be 
supported, transition to new services  

 Visit different places / where you might live 
 Be supported where possible to write their own preparing for adulthood plan  
 Make sure they have a bank and the right benefits  
 Learn how to keep safe with increased independence  

 

Stage 3: 
Becoming an 
adult  
 

18-25 

 Young person will exit education,  
 Developing meaningful activity during the day (including employment).  
 Continue to build their skills to enable them to become more independent and 

develop self-determination and autonomy. 
 Vote  
 Do more things with friends and networks and away from family 
 Take ownership over access to services that can help them  
 

 

In order to achieve this Salford will make sure that all young people with have the right support at 

the right level to achieve their goals and aspirations, based on the principles of Just Enough 

Support and the Thrive model: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Salford has adopted a strengths based enablement and engagement approach to supporting 

young people with emphasis on targeted support to reduce the need for long term commissioned 

services. 

Page 52



16 
 

All practitioners work with young people should be based on the principles of prevention and 

delay.  Where services are involved they should work with young people to identify key areas of 

development and work with young person to develop through their Preparing for Adult (PfA)  

action plan  not only how they will meet needs but also provide  support that aims to develop 

young people skills, resilience, and emotional and physical  wellbeing. 

Areas of development should be identified with the young person before they turn 18 in 

preparation for adulthood.   

Health, Education, Mental Health, and Social Care services should provide and update their 

enablement offer using the principles of Thrive.   Information about enablement services will be 

distributed to front line practitioners.  

To enable this all young people should have access to: 

 Good quality information and advice 

 An Engagement lead to support them through the transition to adulthood  

 Skill development  

 Preparing for Adulthood Action plan 

 Multi agency meeting  

 

What these look like will depend on the needs of the young person and who is supporting them.  

Where more than one service or organisations are supporting them, this support should be 

coordinated and holistic, below is a table showing key components: 

 

5.1b What all Young people can expect from 14+ and how it will be delivered 

 

Area What How it will be delivered 

Good 
quality 
information 
and advice 
 

The educational establishment should lead 
on the dissemination of transition 
information to young people and that young 
people are enabled to explore the 
preparing for adulthood (PfA) outcomes 
through both curriculum activities and 
extracurricular activities.   
 
The PfA outcomes are nationally agreed 
and broadly cover:  
 

 Education and Employment 
 Independent living 
 Community inclusion 
 Health (including health checks and 

Health action plans)  
 

Information, Advice and 
Guidance will be available to 
young people, families and 
professional through:  
 
 Salford Local Offer: Preparing 

for Adulthood 
 Partners in Salford 
 My City life  

 
There will be an annual preparing 
for adulthood road show each 
year 
 
Educational Establishments 
should provide at a minimum, 
careers advice, tailored support 
from one establishment to the 
other and reasonable 
adjustments for exams etc 
 

Page 53



17 
 

Area What How it will be delivered 

Engagement 
lead 

All young people should have a preparing 
for adult engagement lead who will support 
them to have a smooth transition to 
adulthood 
The Engagement Lead will: 
 
 Coordinate the Young Person’s 

transition 
 Ensure that the Young Person has a 

Preparing for Adulthood Action Plan 
(PfA) action plan, that is   outcome 
focused 

 Signpost  
 Make relevant referrals 
 Arrange transitional visits to new 

opportunities (education, health, social 
care) 

 Will act as a one point of contact for the 
young person and their family- where 
appropriate and agreed. 

 
Where there are issues will set up a Multi-
Agency Meeting (MAMS) and or escalate 
the case to the Multi Agency Panel 

 

The engagement lead can be any 
of the following: 
 
 The young person  
 A family member  
 School/ SENCO/ Teaching 

Ass.  
 Youth Service 
 Early help worker  
 Youth worker  
 Social worker 
 Health worker  
 Housing worker  

 
The engagement lead may 
change as the young person 
progresses through the stages on 
transition.  Where possible young 
people and families should be 
empowered to take a lead in this 
role  

Preparing 
for 
Adulthood 
Action plan 

The Preparing for Adulthood action plan 
should:  
 

 Be based on the preparing for 
adulthood outcomes and key to 
citizenship  

 Start at the Year 9 Preparing for 
adulthood Transition review, for all 
young people who have an EHCP  

 Should be reviewed and updated at 
least annually  

 Be co-produced and sent to the young 
person and their family  

 Ensure that skills for independence are 
developed, including managing and 
understanding their own condition 
where relevant 

 It should be clear what the young 
person and family should expect during 
the  

 transition period and clarify the roles 
and responsibilities of the people 
working with the young person 

There is no set format for the PfA 
action and different organisations 
may have their own versions and 
gather information for them in 
different ways 
 
Where there is more than one 
agency involved a decision 
should be made regards who is 
leading on the PfA action plan, 
and that agency should take 
responsibility for ensuring it is 
completed, distributed, and 
reviewed.  
.  
 

Page 54



18 
 

Area What How it will be delivered 

Multi 
agency 
meeting  
 

The Multi Agency Meeting (MAM) is any 
meeting where a young person and their 
supporters are supported to review their 
situation and develop an action plan.  A 
Multi- agency meeting can be: 
 
 AN ECHP review  
 A LAC review 
 A young person meeting  
 A person centred review  
 An MDT 
 

A young person should have a 
multi-agency meeting if: 
 

 They have a EHCP (this would 
be the EHCP review meeting) 

 Have more than one service 
working with them 
 

Where possible meeting should 
be combined to limit the amount 
of meeting and make them more 
meaningful to the young person 
and their family  

 

 

It is the responsibility of the Engagement Lead to refer the young person if they are concerned 

that the young person needs more help or are at risk through the following routes: 

 

 Bridge (under 18 safeguarding) 

 0-18 Multi Agency Panel (for young people 16+ it is the responsibility of this panel to refer 

the young person if required to the 16-25 Multi-Agency Hub)  

 16-25 – Multi Agency Hub (referral for adult services)  

 The contact team (over 18 safeguarding)  

5.2 The 16-25 Multi- Agency Hub 

The Growing Up in Salford Preparing for Adulthood Delivery Model is underpinned by the 

operating infrastructure of the 16- 25 Multi-Agency Hub which is a series of meetings over a four 

week cycle that support multi- agency working for young people 16-25 and enables Salford to 

develop, track, and monitor the transition of young people to adulthood and the success of transfer 

to and from services.   

The 16-25 Multi – Agency Hub supports young people who require more help or are at risk.  

This includes: 

5.2a This 16-25 Multi-Agency Hub and specialist pathways covers the following young 

people:  

Getting More Help - Getting Risk Support: Young People (14-25) 

and Carers who require more extensive and specialised goal 

orientated help 

 

 Those who are likely to meet the eligibility criteria for adult social care and have care and 

support needs as set out in the Care Act 2014 

 Young people who currently receive services Under Section 17 of the Children Act 1989 

because of disability 

 Young People receiving services under The Chronically Sick & Disabled Persons Act 1970 

Page 55



19 
 

 Young people who are supported under Section 20 and Section 31 of the Children Act 

1989 who have an impairment or disability and are likely to require accommodation and 

support post 18 

 Those who may meet eligibility criteria for Children and Young People’s Continuing Care 

or NHS Continuing Healthcare for adults. 

 Those with complex needs (e.g. learning disabilities, physical disabilities, mental health 

difficulties, ADHD, ASD, chronic medical conditions)  

 Young Adults who are Looked after children (LAC) or formerly LAC, have an impairment 

or disability and are likely to have eligible needs under the Care Act, or be at risk of being 

a vulnerable adult, as per the Salford Vulnerable Adult Policy  

 Carers of young people preparing for adulthood and young carers who are themselves 

preparing for adulthood. 

 Young people supported under the Mental Health Act 1983 

 Young people who have had significant trauma which is likely to affect there functioning as 

an adult. 

 Young people where it is believed the young person will still be at significant risk of harm 

post 18. 

5.2b Overview of the 16-25 Multi –Agency Hub  

Within the policy is a brief overview of the function of the Multi-Agency Hub, how the 16-25 Multi 

Agency Hub actually operates is set out in the Document 2: 16-25 Multi Agency Operational 

Framework.  It is expected that all partners who have signed up to this policy have representation 

at all levels of the 16-25 Multi –Agency Hub  

In order to ensure that young people are identified early and that information can be cross 

referenced to identify where more than one service supports the young person  all partners need 

to sign up to the sharing of information, which includes twice a year providing reports of young on 

people who  are 15,16,17 who they are working with who are likely to require adult services post 

18.   

The SEN team also need to provide information on young people who are likely to cease their plan 

post 18  

Young people with be added to the Transition Tracker. All this information will form part of the 5-

year demographic plan that will be developed.  This will attempt to identify all groups not just those 

who are currently in receipt of service. 

The 16-25 Multi- Agency Hub is an amalgamation of 5 distinct meetings that develop transition 

opportunities and tracks the progress of individual cases. It has 3 aims:  

1. To ensure a smooth transfer of transition cases from children’s to adults across health and 

social care 

2. Continue to learn and develop quality transitions for young people in Salford. 

3. To embed the multi- agency processes and system which enables successful multi- agency 

working  

The Multi – Agency hub works on a 4-week cycle and is managed by the Transition Support Team 

with the MAPS Coordinator leading on the administration of the hub.  

All queries regards transition should go to: YPTransition@srft.nhs.uk 

Page 56

mailto:YPTransition@srft.nhs.uk


20 
 

 

 

Week 1: 

Transition & review
Allocation & referrals
Multi-agency Panel

Week 2: 

MOUP Panel
Pendleton Panel

Week 3: 

Transition Register
Strategic Planning 

Group

Week 4: 

Complex needs –
Management Group

End of month 
performance report

The  
Multi-agency  

Hub  

The  
Multi-agency  

Hub  

Page 57



21 
 

Overview of the Multi Agency Hub 
 

Part 1: Transition 
Update and Review 

(implementation 
group) 

Part 2: 16-25 Multi 
Agency Hub: Referral 

and Allocations 

16-25 Multi – Agency 
Panel 

Multi – Agency 
Strategic Transition: 

The Strategic 
Transition Focus 

Strategic Commissioning 
and Budget Pressure 

Forecasting 

 Reviews transition 
work streams and 
multi-agency 
development plan 

 Identifies potential 
gaps  

 Information 
Exchange:  
Opportunity to 
showcase work that 
is being done 
across the sector  

 Agree multi-agency 
performance 
indicator’s  

 Links with the 
strategic groups  

 Ensure cross- 
service training and 
information 
programs are 
delivered  

 
 

The main function of Part 2 
New referrals and 
Allocations is to:  
 
- Triage all new referrals 

and allocations of 
young people 16-25 
across social care, 
health and education  

- Agree the lead agency 
- Agree the responsible 

funding agency (Social 
Care) 

 
Each case will be 
presented to the panel (by 
the practitioner) 

 
The panel will agree which 
team should take the case, 
who will be the lead 
agency and who has 
responsibility for funding,  
 

The Multi agency Panel 
support with currently 
allocated cases which 
are particularly complex, 
where there are barriers, 
high risks, individual 
specialised cases which 
are unusual.   
 
The 16-25 Multi Agency 
Young People at Risk 
register will be kept 
monitored, reviewed, 
managed and escalated 
by this meeting. 
 
The group will feed into 
the under 18 Multi 
Agency Panel and the 
Learning Disability and 
Complex Needs Risk 
Register 
 

Provides strategic 
oversight and 
governance of the multi-
agency transition process 
 
Key areas area are: 
 
 Commissioning and 

Budget Pressures 
(across social care, 
health and education)  

 Health/ Mental Health 
 Education/ 

Employment/ SEND  
 Housing / community/ 

third sector 
 

A Budget Pressures 
Forecasting meeting will take 
place every quarter and a 
jointly agreed budget pressure 
forecasting spread sheet will 
be agreed by children’s and 
adult services.  
 
Joint Commissioning will be 
agreed 
 
Funding will be agreed (i.e. 
who has funding responsibility 
– when financial responsibility 
will transfer over) 
 
NB.  This is different to the 
Adult Social Care Resource 
Panel- which all cases will 
need to go to, for funding to 
be agreed 

 

P
age 58



 22 

5.2c 16-25 Multi –Agency Hub Referral and Allocation Process and Procedure 

• Transition form part 1 is completed by the childrens worker on behalf of the young 
person  before but no earlier than 3 month prior to their16th birthday

• Transition Form Part 1  to be signed off by a Children's Team manager then  sent 
to TRANST clip and  YPtransition@srft.nhs.uk  

• All referrals to be received by week 2 of the Multi Agency hub cycle  to ensure they 
are  presented at the next 16-25 Multi Agency Hub

Initial 
Referral 

(Transition form 
part 1 TfP1)

• Referral added to weekly spreadsheet

• Email sent to referrer accepting refferal and stating what will happen next

• Add to MAH- allocation and refferral  cribsheet

• Add to Transition Tracker

• Transition Support Team  arrange  initial contact 

• All documentation to be sent out to panel members one week before the meeting  
(week 4)

YPTransition 
process 
referral 

• Children's and adult operational managers meet every month on week one of 
multi agency hub cycle.

• Young Person's worker/team present young person  to panel 

• Transition Support Team feedback on informaiton gathered from initial  contacts/ 
fact find

• Discussions recorded by the Multi Agency Panel  Coordinator on the  Allocaion 
and referral crib sheet 

Presented at 
16-25 Multi 

Agency Hub: 

Referral & 
Allocation Panel

• The Multi- Agency Operational  Management Team:

• Agrees next steps for cases

• Agree Engagment lead/ lead agency

• Agree Budget holder  

• Agree if they need to be added to the 16-25 MultiAgency Young People Risk 
System (MAYAR)

• Agree offer 

Multi Agency 
Referral & 
Allocation: 

Agree actions 

• Update multi agency hub crib sheet and send out  to panel members 

• Allocate Transition Social Worker / lead from Transiiton Support Team where 
appropriate

• Update Care First (allocated worker, TfP1: decision and actions ,  upload 
activities , allocated worker, transfer from TRANS clip)

• Update Transition Tracker / MAYARS 

• Add to transition register 

• Send letter to young person and family stating the outcome of meeting and what 
to expect next 

YPTransition 
process referral 

& allocation 

• Email, current worker, referrer, managers , and allocated adult worker set  email 
which states key informaiton of young person, and what needs to happen next

• Provide TfP1 and any other relevant paperwork (ensure it is encrypted) 

• Send invite calenders to all working with person  to the relevant Transition 
Register Meetings

YPTransition:

Feedback to 
referrer & adult 

allocated workers 

Page 59



 23 

) Initial Referral (Transition form part 1 TfP1) 
 Salford’s 16- 18 Specialist Pathway’s Getting more help - Getting risk support 

 
Salford recognises that all young people’s needs are different and may be met in 

different ways and by a number of different agencies.  For young people whose 

needs cannot be met through the Salford Growing Up and Preparing for Adulthood 

Delivery Model, and have been through the 16-25 Multi – Agency Hub  a number of 

specialist pathways have been developed to promote joint working and good 

experiences and outcomes for young people and their families who need more help 

or require risk support. 

There is also always a risk that young people may fall through the net if all services 

and pathways are criteria led.  However, Salford also recognises that it’s important 

that services think about how they support people in transition and how they work 

together.   

The specialist pathways therefore do not set out the young person’s journey but 

instead outline what is expected as a minimum from the service involved once they 

have been through the 16-25 Multi –Agency Hub 

Young People may be supported by more than one service and therefore it is 

imperative the lead transition agency sets out how the different agencies will work 

together to avoid duplication and ensure a holistic approach to transition and 

planning. 

In order to ensure positive transition to adulthood and transfer to adult services, there 

are a number of specialist pathways which are set out in the Preparing for Adulthood 

Practitioners Guide. The Pathways are as follows:   

Pathway 1:  Salford Generic Transition to Adult Social Care:  Set out 

Salford response and approach to the statutory duties that are set out in the 

Care Act 2014 

Pathway 2:  Young People Leaving Care: Set out how Salford will support 

young people who are looked after and have additional need as set out in the 

Care Act 2014, Leaving Care Act 2000 and The Children Act 1989 guidance 

and regulations: Volume 3: Planning transition to adulthood for care leavers 

(2010) 

Pathway 3: The Mental Health Transition Pathway:  Set out how Salford will 

support young people transitioning from children’s to adult mental health 

teams, and the joint working between GMMH, MFT, and the Salford Care 

Organisation 

Pathway 4: Transitional Safeguarding:  Set out how young people who are 

likely to be vulnerable but fall under the threshold for adult services will be 

supported and how we will ensure young people who are at risk of harm or 

abuse are identified and supported post 18 

Page 60



 24 

Pathway 5: To be developed Transition from Children’s Health teams to 

Adult Health Teams.  Set out a number of health pathways and process to 

ensure that young people transition to adult health team and develop the skills 

to self-manage their conditions.  This includes:  
 

- NHS Continuing Health Care 

- Neuro- Diversity Pathway 

- Allied Health Professional Pathway 

- Children’s Nursing to District Nurses 
 

Pathway 6: 16-25 EHCP Pathway:  Sets out what young people transitioning 

from an EHCP can expect and the process for new referral for an EHCP  

Pathway 7:  To be developed Vulnerable Young People Housing 

Pathway: Set out the agreement between the housing and Social Services for 

supporting young people with additional needs source accommodation  

How the Pathway work is set out in the Preparing for Adulthood Practitioner Guide.  

The Pathways set out in the Appendix of this document details of how Salford Intend 

to ensure they are statutory compliant and that there are service level agreements in 

place. The Pathways can be found in the appendices of this document. 

 

 

 
Back to contents page 

6.1 The Strategic Transition Group 

Membership: It is expected that all key partners nominate a senior partner to 
attend the strategic transition group every quarter. 

Objectives 
 

 Building on transition of care guidance locally, nationally and from 

GM, write and agree Salford standards for emotional wellbeing 

(EWB) services, disability and carer services in both Children and 

Adult services and Primary Care.  

 Build on existing good practice such as transitions teamwork, 

goodbye primary, hello high 

 To ensure that transition of care for young people to adult 

services meets their needs and ensures continuity of high quality 

care by undertaking an audit of current practice, identify gaps and 

produce risk assessment  

 Co-produce with young people a programme and standards for 

transition by September 2019 

 Develop recommendations for commissioning of services by 

September 2019   

 Include in service specifications by November 2019    

 Develop links to the personalisation work and embed in policy  

6. Roles and Responsibilities  

Page 61



 25 

Risks  
 

 Monitor financial risk  
 Develop strategies to overcome three main risk pertaining to 

transition: 
 

1. Variation 
2. Bottle necks  
3. Gaps in transition of care pathways e.g. no existing adult 

pathway. 

Outcomes  
 

Development of a work plan for the steering group to include:  
 Audit of current practice, identify gaps and risk assessment 

 Development of shared standards and pathways of care across 

children’s and adult services  

 The standards will be implemented in services across Salford.   

 Commissioning guidance will be drafted and tested 

 The implementation will be monitored and implementation 

guidance will be produced as a result.  

 Transitions statement / Charter which covers parents/carers, CYP 

& professionals 

 Develop information sharing protocols to include parental access  

 Monitor the current baseline, develop data on demographics and 

need 

 Review and assess the impact of the policy and supporting 

documents, both in practice and impact on individuals life’s 

 

6.2 Multi Agency Hub members: Transition Champions 

All partner agencies will commit to providing a Transition Champion at an operational 

and Strategic level.   

 

 Transition Support Team 

 Integrated Care Team  

 Adult Learning Disability Service 

 Adult Community Mental Health Services 

 Children with Disabilities team 

 Next Steps Leaving Care Team  

 CAMHS 

 Children Health  

 Children’s Allied Health  

 NHS Continuing Healthcare  

 SEN 

 

The operational transition champion will attend the multi-agency hub: allocations and 

referrals  

Page 62



 26 

The strategic transition champion will attend the Multi agency panel.  This person 

must have authority to make decisions on behalf of their organisation 

All transition champions both at operational and strategic level will be expected to:  

 Accept responsibility for their role and organisation  

 Attend the meeting with the information they are expected to share (see 

appendix)  

 It is expected that Service Leads, ensure that new allocations are sent to the 

Multi Agency Hub on time 

 Action plan will be reviewed at the beginning of each meeting and it is 

expected that all stakeholders should be able to update on their actions  

 The Transition Support Team, manage the Transition Process, and the 

administration of the Multi Agency Hub, it is the responsibility of this team, to 

ensure information is sent out in a timely manner 

All children teams will send annual reports of young people who are 15,16,17 who 

are likely to require support from and adult service 

6.3 Transition Support Team 

The Transition Support Team consists of: 

 The Complex Needs Lead: Adult Social Care Strategic lead for young people 

who may require adult services post 18 

 Transition Coordinator: Operational lead 

 Advanced Practitioner: Social Worker:  Case work lead  

 2 x Transition Social Workers: Lead for assessment, care and support 

planning 

 Multi Agency Panel Coordinator:  Coordinates multi, agency hub and leads on 

dissemination of information advice and guidance  

 Person Centred Quality Officer Lead trainer/ Person centred reviews/ meeting   

 
The role of the transition team is written into the Salford health and social care 

service specification and is reviewed in line with the specification. 

In regards of the Children and Families Act 2014 and Care Act 2014, specific duties 

of this team are: 

Getting Advice - Getting help 

 Provide and update information about transition 

 Deliver Preparing for Adulthood events  

 Manage the Teenage to Adult Group 

 Passport to Independence 

 Develop and deliver training plan for Person Centred planning, reviews and 

preparing for adulthood 

 Manage the YPTransition information email 

Page 63



 27 

 Support young people to complete preparing for adult action plans 

 Complete social care advice for young people 18+ and in certain 

circumstances 16+ 

 Signpost young people to level 1 and 2 services and organisations 

 

Getting more help - Getting risk support 

 Ensure the early identification of young people 

 Administer the Multi – Agency Hub 

 Lead on the operational function of Transition (transfer from one team to 

another, highlight budget pressures, manage risk)  

 Manage the database of young people  

 Ensure representation at where appropriate EHCP annual reviews  

 Ensure young people get a transition assessment  

 Ensure young people where eligible have a person centred care and support 

plan, that dovetails where appropriate into their EHCP 

 Develop a commissioning strategy based on the needs of young people as set 

out in their EHCP, preparing for adult action plans, transition assessments and 

care and support plan 

 Develop pathways 

 

 

 

 

 

Back to contents page 

Quantitative Data 

The first year of the policy there will be a focus on implementing the basics of the 

policy and building a base line for the Key Performance indicators. 

Key Performance Indicators will be developed to log the implementation of this to 

policy.  To enable this:  

 A KPI log will be developed which monitors the effectiveness of key 

expectations set out in the Policy and supporting documents 

 Each Pathway will develop key performance indicators – so we can monitor 

effectiveness of all pathways and identify risks and issues  

 Develop a baseline for each pathway of where it started 

 Develop a gaps analysis  

From Year 2 

7. Monitoring Effectiveness                             Back to 

contents page 

Page 64



 28 

Qualitative Data 

 Develop an impact assessment of the impact the policy has the people 

supported by the policy  

Quarterly Reports will be provided to the Strategic Transition Group – which monitors 

effectiveness and scope of the policy 

 

 

 

ADHD  Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder 

AHP Allied Health Professional  

ASD Autistic Spectrum Disorder  

CAMHS  Children and Adolescence Mental Health Service 

CCG Clinical Commissioning Group 

CHC  Continuing Health Care 

CIN Child In Need 

CMHT Community Mental Health Services  

CP Child Protection 

CWD Children with Disabilities 

EHCP Education Health and Care Plan  

GMMH Greater Manchester Mental health 

LAC Looked after child  

LDHP  Learning Disability Health Professionals  

MAM Multi Agency Meeting  

MAP  Multi Agency Panel  

MCA Mental Capacity Act  

MFT Manchester Foundation Trust 

NHS  National Health Service 

PfA Preparing for Adult  

SEN Special Educational Needs  

SENCO Special Educational Needs Coordinator  

SEND Special Education Needs and Disability 

SRFT Salford Royal Foundation Trust 

YAMHS Young Adult Mental Health Services 

 

 

 

 

Back to contents page 

Legislation:  

9. 

8. Glossary of terms Abbreviations and definitions   

References / bibliography                           Back to 

contents page 

Page 65



 29 

 Care Act (2014) www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2014/23/contents/enacted 

 Children   (Leaving Care Act)  2000 

www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2000/35/contents 

 Children and Families Act (2014) www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2014/6 

 Children and Social Work Act (2017) www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2017/16 

 Children’s Act (1989) www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1989/41/contents 

 Equality Act   (2010) www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2010/15/contents 

 Health and Social Care Act (2012)  www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2012 

 Homelessness Reduction Act (2017) www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2017 

 Human Rights Act (1998) www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1998 

 Mental Capacity Act 2005 www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2005 

 Mental Health Act (1983) www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1983 

 

Statutory Guidance 

 Department for Education (DfE) (2018) Working together to safeguard 

children: a guide to inter-agency working to safeguard and promote the 

welfare of children (PDF). London: HM Government. 

 Department for Education (DfE) (2018) Working together to safeguard 

children: a guide to inter-agency working to safeguard and promote the 

welfare of children.  London: HM Government. 

 Department for Education and Department of Health (2015) Special 

educational needs and disability code of practice: 0 to 25 years. Available 

at: https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/send-code-of-practice-0-to-25 

 Department of Education (2015) The Children Act 1989 guidance and 

regulations: Volume 3: Planning transition to adulthood for care leavers 

ttps://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/att

achment_data/file/397649/CA1989_Transitions_guidance.pdf  

 Department of Education (2018) Applying corporate parenting principles to 

looked – after children and care leavers: Statutory guidance for local 

authorities https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/applying-corporate-

parenting-principles-to-looked-after-children-and-care-leaver 

 Department of Health (2018) Care and Support Statutory guidance: issued 

under the care act 2014 London: Department of Health  

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/care-act-statutory-guidance/care-

and-support-statutory-guidance 

 Department of Health and Social Care (2018) (revised) National Framework 

for NHS Continuing Healthcare and NHS Funded Nursing Care 

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/a

ttachment_data/file/746063/20181001_National_Framework_for_CHC_and_F

NC_-_October_2018_Revised.pdf 

National Framework for Children and Young People’s Continuing Care, 2016 

 Local Government Association (2020) Making Safeguarding Personal toolkit 

London: Local Government Association https://www.local.gov.uk/msp-toolkit 

Page 66

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2014/23/contents/enacted
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2000/35/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2014/6/contents/enacted
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2017/16/contents/enacted
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1989/41/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2010/15/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2012/7/contents/enacted
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2017/13/contents/enacted
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1998/42/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2005/9/content
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1983/20/contents
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/send-code-of-practice-0-to-25
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/applying-corporate-parenting-principles-to-looked-after-children-and-care-leaver
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/applying-corporate-parenting-principles-to-looked-after-children-and-care-leaver
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/care-act-statutory-guidance/care-and-support-statutory-guidance
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/care-act-statutory-guidance/care-and-support-statutory-guidance
https://www.local.gov.uk/msp-toolkit


 30 

 Mental health Act: Code of Practice 

 Ministry of Housing, communities and local government (2020) Homelessness 

code of guidance for local authorities 

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/homelessness-code-of-guidance-for-local-

authorities 

 

Policy and National Guidance 

 Department for Education, HM Revenue and Customs, Department for Work 

and Pensions (2013) Staying Put with Former Foster Carers: Living Together 

Agreement https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/staying-put-

arrangements-for-care-leavers-aged-18-years-and-above 

 Department of Education(2015)   Preparing for adulthood (PfA) 

https://www.preparingforadulthood.org.uk/ 

 Department of Health (2015) Future in Mind. Available at: 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/improving-mental-health-

services-for-young-people 

 Department of Health (2017) Strengths-based social work practice with adults: 

roundtable report London: Crown Copywrite retrieved from 

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/a

ttachment_data/file/652773/Strengths-

based_social_work_practice_with_adults.pdf 

 Firmin.C, Horan.J, Holmes.D, Hopper.G, (2019) Safeguarding during 

adolescence – the relationship between contextual safeguarding, Complex 

Safeguarding and Transitional Safeguarding Darlington : Research in Practice 

 Hanson.E. Holmes, D. (2014) That Difficult Age: Developing a more effective 

response to risks in adolescence Darlington: Research in Practice 

 Holmes D & Smale E. (2018). Transitional safeguarding - adolescence to 

adulthood: Strategic Briefing (2018). Dartington: Research in Practice. 

 Local Government Association (2015) Building the Right Support: A National 

plan to develop community services and close inpatient facilities for people 

with learning disabilities and or autism who display behaviour that challenges, 

including those with mental health conditions https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-

content/uploads/2015/10/ld-nat-imp-plan-oct15.pdf 

 Local Government Association (2018) Ordinary Residence Guide: Determining 

local authority responsibilities under the Care Act and Mental Health Act 

https://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/CHIP%20Ordinary%20

Resident_FINAL%20COPY.pdf 

 NHS (2019) NHS Long Term Plan https://www.longtermplan.nhs.uk/wp-

content/uploads/2019/08/nhs-long-term-plan-version-1.2.pdf 

 NHS England (2015) Model Specification for Transitions from Child and 

Adolescent Mental Health Services https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-

content/uploads/2015/01/mod-transt-camhs-spec.pdf 

 House of Commons (2015) Care Leavers’ transition to adulthood London: 

Page 67

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/staying-put-arrangements-for-care-leavers-aged-18-years-and-above
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/staying-put-arrangements-for-care-leavers-aged-18-years-and-above
https://www.preparingforadulthood.org.uk/
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/improving-mental-health-services-for-young-people
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/improving-mental-health-services-for-young-people
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/652773/Strengths-based_social_work_practice_with_adults.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/652773/Strengths-based_social_work_practice_with_adults.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/652773/Strengths-based_social_work_practice_with_adults.pdf
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/10/ld-nat-imp-plan-oct15.pdf
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/10/ld-nat-imp-plan-oct15.pdf
https://www.longtermplan.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/08/nhs-long-term-plan-version-1.2.pdf
https://www.longtermplan.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/08/nhs-long-term-plan-version-1.2.pdf


 31 

The Stationary office Limited  

https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201516/cmselect/cmpubacc/411/411.p

df 

 NHS England (2016) Implementing the Five Year Forward View for Mental 

Health. Available at: www.england.nhs.uk/mentalhealth/taskforce/imp/. 

 Nice (2016) Transition from Children’s to Adult Services for young people 

using health or social care services. www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng43 

 NICE (2019)  Improving young people’s experience in transition to and from 

impatient mental health settings: A quick guide for Mental Health Practitioners 

supporting young people https://www.nice.org.uk/media/default/about/nice-

communities/social-care/quick-guides/young-people-mental-health-transition-

quick-guide.pdf 

 NICE/SCIE ( 2018) Building Independence through planning for transition: a 

quick guide for practitioners supporting young people  

https://www.nice.org.uk/about/nice-communities/social-care/quick-

guides/building-independence-through-planning-for-transition 

 SCIE (2019) Preparing for Adulthood: The Role of the Social Worker 

https://www.scie.org.uk/children/transition/social-workers-role-supporting-

learning-disabilities 

 SCIE(2011)  Guide 44: Mental health service transitions for young people 

https://www.scie.org.uk/almost-there 

 University Hospital Southampton (2020) Ready Steady Go: Transition 

Programme www.uhs.nhs.uk/Media/UHS-website-

2019/Patientinformation/Childhealth/ReadySteadyGo/ReadysteadygoReadyqu

estionnaire.pdf 

 

Local Policy 

 Salford Vulnerable Adults Policy  

 Salford Self-Neglect Policy 

 YOS Transition Protocol  

 ASC Resource Panel 

 Direct Payments Policy  

 

10. Document Control Information  

It is the author’s responsibility to ensure that all sections below are completed in relation to 
this version of the document prior to submission for upload. 

Remove instructions once completed. 

Nominated Lead 
author: 

Name   Role 

Lead author 
contact details: 

Full contact telephone number 
0161  
01706  

Full trust email address 
@srft.nhs.uk 
@pat.nhs.uk 

Page 68

https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201516/cmselect/cmpubacc/411/411.pdf
https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201516/cmselect/cmpubacc/411/411.pdf
https://www.england.nhs.uk/mentalhealth/taskforce/imp/
https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng43
https://www.nice.org.uk/media/default/about/nice-communities/social-care/quick-guides/young-people-mental-health-transition-quick-guide.pdf
https://www.nice.org.uk/media/default/about/nice-communities/social-care/quick-guides/young-people-mental-health-transition-quick-guide.pdf
https://www.nice.org.uk/media/default/about/nice-communities/social-care/quick-guides/young-people-mental-health-transition-quick-guide.pdf
https://www.nice.org.uk/about/nice-communities/social-care/quick-guides/building-independence-through-planning-for-transition
https://www.nice.org.uk/about/nice-communities/social-care/quick-guides/building-independence-through-planning-for-transition
https://www.scie.org.uk/children/transition/social-workers-role-supporting-learning-disabilities
https://www.scie.org.uk/children/transition/social-workers-role-supporting-learning-disabilities
https://www.scie.org.uk/almost-there
https://www.uhs.nhs.uk/Media/UHS-website-2019/Patientinformation/Childhealth/ReadySteadyGo/ReadysteadygoReadyquestionnaire.pdf
https://www.uhs.nhs.uk/Media/UHS-website-2019/Patientinformation/Childhealth/ReadySteadyGo/ReadysteadygoReadyquestionnaire.pdf
https://www.uhs.nhs.uk/Media/UHS-website-2019/Patientinformation/Childhealth/ReadySteadyGo/ReadysteadygoReadyquestionnaire.pdf


 32 

Lead Author’s 
Manager: 

Name   Role 

Applies to: Please indicate which Care Organisation(s) this document applies to: 

Salford  CO Oldham CO North 
Manchester 
CO 

Bury & 
Rochdale CO 

Northern Care Alliance 
Group (NCA) 

Document 
developed in 
consultation with : 

List below the groups, teams, forums, personnel involved in the development or 
endorsement of this version of your document, See Policy for Policies and Staff Guides for 
further information on consultation. 
Insert list:  

Keywords/ 
phrases: 

List below the search terms and phrases you think that staff would use to search for this 
document, see ‘ Staff Guide: Finding Trust Policies & Guidelines’ for further advice on 
keyword searches 
Insert keywords: 

Communication  
plan: 

State below how the practice in this document will be rolled out across the organisation and 
embedded in practice, e.g. ‘Via mandatory training and competency assessment overseen 
by the Associate Nursing Directors’    
Insert plan: 
 
 

Document review 
arrangements: 

Accept or amend the statement below as required; NB: the duration between reviews cannot 
be longer than 3 years unless in exceptional circumstances. 
This document will be reviewed by the author, or a nominated person, at least once every 
three years or earlier should a change in legislation, best practice or other change in 
circumstance dictate. 

Approval: Insert below the approval details for this version of the document 
Add name of Committee and Chairpersons name and role: 

 

Insert full approval date: dd/mm/yyyy 

 

How approved: Chair’s actions Formal Committee decision 

  

Page 69



 33 

11. Equality Impact Assessment (eq1A) Screening Tool  

Legislation requires that our documents consider the potential to affect groups 
differently, and eliminate or minimise this where possible.  This process helps to 
reduce health inequalities by identifying where steps can be taken to ensure the 
same access, experience and outcomes are achieved across all groups of people. 
This may require you to do things differently for some groups to reduce any potential 
differences. 
 

1a) Have you undertaken any consultation/ 
involvement with service users, staff or other 
groups in relation to this document?  If yes, 
specify what. 

Yes/no 
Outline activity/method 
 

1b) Have any amendments been made as a 
result? If yes, specify what. 
 

Yes/no 
Outline changes made 

2) Does this policy have the potential to affect any of the groups listed below differently?  
Place an X in the appropriate box: Yes, No or Unsure 
This may be linked to access, how the process/procedure is experienced, and/or intended 
outcomes.  Prompts for consideration are provided, but are not an exhaustive list. 

Protected Group Yes No Unsure 

Age (e.g. are specific age groups excluded? Would the same process affect age 

groups in different ways?) 
   

Sex (e.g. is gender neutral language used in the way the policy or information leaflet 

is written?) 
   

Race (e.g. any specific needs identified for certain groups such as dress, diet, 

individual care needs?  Are interpretation and translation services required and do 
staff know how to book these?) 

   

Religion & Belief (e.g. Jehovah Witness stance on blood transfusions; dietary 

needs that may conflict with medication offered.) 
   

Sexual orientation (e.g. is inclusive language used? Are there different 

access/prevalence rates?) 
   

Pregnancy & Maternity (e.g. are procedures suitable for pregnant and/or 

breastfeeding women?) 
   

Marital status/civil partnership (e.g. would there be any difference because 

the individual is/is not married/in a civil partnership?) 
   

Gender Reassignment (e.g. are there particular tests related to gender? Is 

confidentiality of the patient or staff member maintained?) 
   

Human Rights (e.g. does it uphold the principles of Fairness, Respect, Equality, 

Dignity and Autonomy?) 
   

Carers (e.g. is sufficient notice built in so can take time off work to attend 

appointment?) 
   

Socio/economic (e.g. would there be any requirement or expectation that may 

not be able to be met by those on low or limited income, such as costs incurred?) 
   

Disability (e.g. are information/questionnaires/consent forms available in different 

formats upon request? Are waiting areas suitable?) Includes hearing and/or visual 
impairments, physical disability, neurodevelopmental impairments e.g. autism, mental 
health conditions, and long term conditions e.g. cancer.   

   

  

Page 70



 34 

Are there any adjustments that need to be made to ensure that 
people with disabilities have the same access to and outcomes 
from the service or employment activities as those without 
disabilities? (e.g. allow extra time for appointments, allow advocates to be 

present in the room, having access to visual aids, removing requirement to wait in 
unsuitable environments, etc.) 

   
 

3) Where you have identified that there are potential differences, what steps have you 
taken to mitigate these? 
(what action has been taken or will be taken, who is responsible for taking a future action, and when it will be 

completed by – may include adjustment to wording of policy or leaflet to mitigate) 

 
 
4) Where you have identified adjustments would need to be made for those with 
disabilities, what action has been taken? 
(what action has been taken or will be taken, who is responsible for taking a future action, and when it will be 
completed by – may include adjustment to wording of policy or leaflet) 

 
 

Will this policy require a full impact assessment?  Yes / No 
(a full impact assessment will be required if you are unsure of the potential to affect a group differently, or if you 

believe there is a potential for it to affect a group differently and do not know how to mitigate against this - Please 

contact the Inclusion and Equality team for advice on equality@pat.nhs.uk) 
    
 
Author: Type/sign:                                                                                               Date:     
 
Sign off from Equality Champion:                                                                        Date: 
 

 

 

 

Pathway 1:  Salford Generic YPTransition to Adult Social Care:   
Pathway One_TransferfromChildrensSocialCare_AdultSocialCare.docx 

Pathway 2:  Young People Leaving Care:  
Pathway 2_YoungPeoplewithadditional needs who 
are_care_leavers.docx 

Pathway 3: The Mental Health Transition Pathway:   
Pathway3_MentalHealthPathway.docx 

Pathway 4: Transitional Safeguarding:   
Pathway 4_TransitionalSafeguarding.docx 

 

Pathway 5: Transition from Children’s Health teams to Adult Health 
Teams.  Set out a number of health pathways and process to ensure that 
young people transition to adult health team and develop the skills to self-
manage their conditions.  This includes:  
 

- NHS Continuing Health Care 
- Neuro- Diversity Pathway 
- Allied Health Professional Pathway 

Appendices                                                                
Back to contents page 

Page 71

mailto:equality@pat.nhs.uk
file:///C:/Users/dwilliams2/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/Content.Outlook/XHNSF0UJ/Pathway%20One_TransferfromChildrensSocialCare_AdultSocialCare.docx
file:///C:/Users/dwilliams2/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/Content.Outlook/XHNSF0UJ/Pathway%202_YoungPeoplewithadditional%20needs%20who%20are_care_leavers.docx
file:///C:/Users/dwilliams2/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/Content.Outlook/XHNSF0UJ/Pathway%202_YoungPeoplewithadditional%20needs%20who%20are_care_leavers.docx
file:///C:/Users/dwilliams2/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/Content.Outlook/XHNSF0UJ/Pathway3_MentalHealthPathway.docx
file:///C:/Users/dwilliams2/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/Content.Outlook/XHNSF0UJ/Pathway%204_TransitionalSafeguarding.docx


 35 

- Children’s Nursing to District Nurses 
 

Under Construction  
 

Pathway 6: 16-25 EHCP Pathway:  Sets out what young people 
transitioning from an EHCP can expect and the process for new referral for 
an EHCP  

Under Construction  
 
 

Pathway 7:  Vulnerable Young People Housing Pathway: Set out the 
agreement between the housing and Social Services for supporting young 
people with additional needs source accommodation  

Under Construction  
 
 

 

 
 

 
 

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS: 
 

 

KEY DECISION: NO 
 

 
 

 

KEY COUNCIL POLICIES:  

 Salford’s All Age Mental Health Strategy  

 Salford’s Thrive Plan 

 Salford’s Education and Inclusion Strategy and Action Plan 

 Salford’s SEND Strategy  

 Salford’s Integrated Neighbour strategy 
 

 

Page 72



 36 

EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT AND IMPLICATIONS: 
This policy will undergo an Equality Impact Assessment  
 

 

ASSESSMENT OF RISK: Low currently  
 

 

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: N/A 

 
 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: N/A 

 
 

PROCUREMENT IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: N/A 
 

HR IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: N/A 
 

 
 

CLIMATE CHANGE IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: N/A 
 

 

OTHER DIRECTORATES CONSULTED: Adults, Childrens, Health 
 

 

CONTACT OFFICER: Caitlin Chapman  email 
Caitlin.chapman@srft.nhs.uk  
 

 
 

WARDS TO WHICH REPORT RELATES: All  
 

Page 73



This page is intentionally left blank



| 1

Sub-Group/Programme: Early Help Neighbourhood Operational Group (EHNOG) 
Lead: Becky Bibby, Assistant Director, Early Help and School Readiness Contact: Clare Hopton, 0-25 Advisory Board Business Manager 

Work programme context:

The Early Help Neighbourhood Operational Group (EHNOG) was established in October 2019 following a refresh of previous arrangements for Early Help
and will oversee the work plan for Early Help across the City. It will provide deep dive exploration and intelligence on the Early Help system to identify
areas for further connectivity and escalate potential barriers and challenges to the appropriate forums and boards.

In response to Covid-19, the group has revisited its key priorities and opportunities for partnership working to develop a revised Living with Covid-19
work plan that will be implemented over the next 12 months.

Programme structure and implementation:
• Reports to POG (joint Council and CCG governance) and 0-25 Advisory Board 
• Assurance reporting arrangements also established with the Salford Safeguarding Children Partnership (SSCP) 

Progress summary (last 8 weeks): (high level and by exception)
• Early Help Systems Guide follow up and next steps fed back via the Early Help 

Neighbourhood Operational Group (EHNOG). Will link to the refresh of the 
Early Help Strategy. Names put forward to sit on the Task and Finish Group.

• Strengthening Families session with the Innovation Unit at ENHOG (16 March 
and 0-25 Advisory Board (21 April) 

• Early Help Assessment and Early Help Support and Portage web pages now in 
development and a webpage for the Neuro Dev Pathway has been included. 

• Meeting arranged with senior leaders to progress PIMH Business Case 
• High Needs/SEND Pathway Development Task and Finish Group mapping 

exercise in progress. The Task and Finish Group has met twice. 
• 1001 Days Antenatal Strategy session was arranged for 29 March to pull 

together the mapping exercise.
• Our Family Voice Implementation Plan and Training Offer shared at the Early 

Help Leadership Team meeting on 23 March with an ask for comment from 
Early Help Teams.

Outlook summary: (next 8 weeks) 
• Task and Finish Group to be established to refresh of Early Help Strategy. 

Initial feedback to go to EHNOG on 19 May. 
• Innovation Unit to attend EHNOG on 19 May to update on the 

Strengthening Families  vision workshops that took place in March and 
April. 

• Strengthening Families paper to be scheduled at Leadership Team with 
the PID and Project Plan. 

• PIMH Business Case meeting (11 May)
• High Needs/SEND Pathway Development Task and Finish Group 

continuing with mapping exercise. Identified gaps and will progress 
further at next meeting (28 April)

• 1001 Days Antenatal Strategy pathway and supporting documents now 
in development following mapping exercise. 

• Feedback on the Our Family Voice Implementation Plan and Training 
offer to be completed by 18 May. Next Task and Finish Group (25 May)

• Call for items for Spring edition of the Early Help newsletter
• Development of Early Help online resources continues with content 

being shared regularly by Early Help Teams. 

0-25 Transformation 
Highlight Report

P
age 75

A
genda Item

 8



Upcoming Milestones/Next steps/Key Decisions Date

• Refresh of the Early Help Strategy 
• Progress PIMHS Business Case 
• Our Family Voice training to be completed by Early Help Teams 
• Follow up session with Innovation Unit around Strengthening Families 
• 1001 Days Antenatal Strategy - pathways and supporting documents to be completed

Ongoing from April 2021
May 2021
April/May 2021
19 May 2021
June 2021

Risks 

No immediate risks identified.

Summary of Risk Summary of Mitigation RAG Rating 

Financial spend/requests:

Not applicable.

Please return to Clare Hopton clare.hopton@salford.gov.uk

P
age 76



| 1

Sub-Group/Programme:        CAN ERG                                                          Lead: Debbie Blackburn 

Work programme context: Our ambition in Salford is for a well-planned continuum of provision from birth to age 25 that meets the
needs of children and young people with Special Educational Needs or Disability (SEND) and their families at the earliest point.
This will be achieved through:
• Integrated services and pathways across education, health and social care which work in partnership with parents and carers.
• Processes that are developed within a Needs and Outcomes Framework.

It also means a strong commitment to early intervention and prevention so that children’s and young people’s needs are met at the
earliest opportunity and do not escalate and thus require interventions at a much higher level.

Progress summary (last 8 weeks): (high level and by exception)
• Neuro developmental pathway audit of training for parents and 

professionals complete and ready to go onto the website and SIASS 
page- ongoing work 

• Ten nominees from across the local authority health and social care 
have been identified to attend the post diagnostic training called 
“Riding the rapids” which is funded by GM

• AT met with the parents assembly to discuss the neuro dev pathway
• The crisis outreach provision for children self isolating has now ended 

following a review of the need for the service
• The personal budgets steering group (social care) has now met twice 

and CG plans to develop a process in alignment with the family 
partnership model

• Transferring TCS into Social care has been deferred until  1st June 
• One of two TCS Keyworkers now in post and started induction
• LSS have created information on what a good referral should look 

like from schools re neuro dev 
• Draft monitoring and QA for neuro dev now complete
• Third Parent Assembly has now taken place

Outlook summary: (next 8 weeks) 

• Operational review of Pathfinder
• Design monthly drop in ‘surgeries’ for families around neuro 

dev areas of need.
• Support schools training for NDP
• On-going work re web site for the NDP
• Focus at steering group on ‘diagnosis’
• GM funding is available for 3rd Keyworker. 
• Recruitment process of  TCS Keyworker to be progressed

0-25 Transformation 
Highlight Report

P
age 77



Upcoming Milestones/Next steps/Key Decisions Date

Operational review of pathfinder
Neuro dev business case for short and medium term- how do we sustain the pathway
Review short breaks and align priorities- GM, group based etc

1st March
1st April
1st April

Risks 

CAMHs waiting list for neuro dev
Neuro pathway complexity of interlinking aspects needs careful consideration.
1 TCS Keyworker instead of 2

Summary of Risk Summary of Mitigation RAG Rating 

Non delivery of Neuro needs led pathway EH input invaluable to support this 
Lack of short breaks provision for families Review and plan to mitigate impact on families
Impact of covid on provision to families Negotiations with providers

Financial spend/requests:

Neuro Dev business case to be agreed- allocation of spend.

Please return to Clare Hopton clare.hopton@salford.gov.uk

P
age 78



| 1

Sub-Group/Programme:        Lead: 

Work programme context:
Salford Thrive: supporting children and young people’s emotional health and wellbeing

Programme structure and implementation:
Our structure chart needs updating to reflect recent developments, especially around MHiE which includes the 
Following: 1) Thrive in Education Programme Oversight Board, 2) TIE Operational Mgt Group, 3)  TIE expert 
reference group, which replaces the longstanding working group. In addition, there is a task and finish group
supporting the development of a sports/physical activity on prescription pathway. and will advise the board and 
undertake work to further develop and support the Thrive in Education Agenda.
The Early Years working Group no longer exists but other working groups have met to feed into the PIMH work and
business case which will now sit under the 1001 Days work plan (under Becky Bibby).

Progress summary (last 8 weeks): (high level and by exception)
• Thrive in Education programme: the first TiE Board meeting took place in March 21. The 

Operational Mgt Group continues to meet monthly. 22 expressions of interest have been 
received from schools in to get involved in year 2. the applications and current TiE participating 
schools are currently being reviewed to plan team capacity and work plans from Sept 21 – July 22. 
Q4 reports are due in May. Peer Support and Physical Activity pilot proposals are in development.

• Kooth: thankfully there has been a significant increase in registrations and activity in Kooth in Q4, 
with 230 new registrations in Q4 compared to 87 in Q3 and1315  log ins compared to 521 in Q4. 
Given that schools only reopened on 8th March, this is really promising, and we would expect 
further increased activity in Q1. GM HSCP will continue to fund delivery in Salford in 2021-22 and 
SFG had approved £8k match funding for this, the plan remains for a GM service specification to 
be developed and for a pan Gm commission form April 22, with services extended to age 25. a 
business case will need to be taken via SFG later this year.

• Neuro Devt: work is ongoing with a joint business case to support service capacity to ensure 
sustainability of the pathway and a MAP approach. CAMHS has made a proposal for non 
recurrent funding (CAMHS transformation funding that we still have in the budget) to provide 
short term capacity to address the waiting list and waiting times within CAMHS that has raised 
due to the re-direction on referrals to the Bridge in 2020.

• PIMH work programme: governance arrangements are in development and first steering group[ 
meeting arranged in June. A CAPS proposal has now been received from MFT and is under review. 
A stakeholder workshop is planned in June to review progress of Homestart and any changes 
required to the service specification and pathway. Dad’s Matters has been funded via CCG 
Innovation fund and approved by IROG for a 4-month extension to end of Sept to allow for a 
project review and business case to be made for continued funding and alignment with the PIMH 
programme.

• The Salford Thrive Plan Update 2021: was published end March as a Final Draft report, pending 
HWBB final approval 11th May. 

Outlook summary: (next 8 weeks) 
• Decisions on financial investment in CYPMH required:

• CAMHS non recurrent funding for Neuro Development Pathway
• Allocations to be made to  providers for peer support and physical activity on prescription 

pilots following final proposals due early May
• Ongoing delivery of Thrive and Trauma Training programme. Various elements that haven’t 

been delivered remotely are being planned for face to face and rolling out form April 21, 
including ASSIST, mental Health First Aid, Drama in Schools workshops. 

• Transitions Policy final approvals required by CCG/Council governance. 
• Next TiE Board meeting 10.06.21 and Q4 performance report due in in May. First 6 months 

evaluation of ‘added’ value investments into Educational Psychology services required to show 
impact on Gm investment in non-core MHST model. 

• Final approval of Thrive Plan by HWBB 11th May.
• Anticipated transition from CAMHS COVID surge plan to ‘business as usual’ from May, subject 

to Q4 reports which are due.
• New work to start – PIMHS, CAPS service commissioning, and review of Homestart to be 

undertaken by Salford and Trafford.
• Crisis Care Pathways / Tier 4 pressures – task and finish group work around pathways mapping, 

GM review of escalation policies and development of a ‘Tier 3.5’ CYPMH step down support 
service.

Ongoing - Thrive Network: email bulletins continue to be sent out on a weekly basis providing 
service updates, information and resources alongside the EHWB webpages being kept updated, 
online directory format revised and updated

0-25 Transformation: Highlight Report
Please return to Clare Hopton clare.hopton@salford.gov.uk

P
age 79



Upcoming Milestones/Next steps/Key Decisions Date

As described on previous outlook, plus:
• Decisions related to CYPMH work programme funding and locality LTP investment all yet to be confirmed
• NHSE monitoring of MHIE work and GM MHSTs 
• Business case to be presented for Neuro Development Pathway investment
• Commissioning Manager Recruitment – Interviews 04.05.21 

Q1 2021
Q1 2021
Q1 2021
May 21

Risks 

Ongoing pressure of managing Thrive / CYP MH work programme. SCC approved a fixed term commissioning Manager post. The number of applications was
disappointing with only 5 and none submitted via NHS Jobs and no candidates with like for like experience, likely the impact of the post not being permanent. 3
candidates have been selected for interview on 4th May.

Surge demand and pressures in CYP MH services are ongoing and will continue to be monitored in the usual way. CAMHS COVID Surge Plan prioritisation is planned to
end in April and transition to ‘business as usual in May 2021. Q4 performance reports are awaiting to assess demand and any impacts of waits in services. Crisis care
pressures / access Tier 4 assessment and beds and pressures/appropriate space for supporting CYPMH assessments and support in Panda will be monitored via
established task and finish group.
Summary of Risk Summary of Mitigation RAG Rating 
COVID surge, service and CYPMH system 
pressures

1. Service updates and COVID Surge Plans published 1st December 2020 – ongoing review and 
comms to wider Thrive system and referrers (GPs, Social Care and Education).

2. A number of vacancies in CAMHS have now been recruited to and staff starting in post.
3. Services doing their best to manage staff wellbeing and providing increased flexibility 
4. SFG approved business case for non recurrent funding for 42nd St SFG on 02.02.21
5. Crisis Care pressures &  Tier 4 access issues - task and finish review established

Commissioning Manager recruitment in 
unsuccessful 

1. Review position post interviews 5th May
2. Consider agency recruitment for fixed term contract – quickest method.
3. Consider Secondment opportunity – Council, CCG, GM HSCP

Financial spend/requests:

• Proposed non recurrent investment to support CAMHS Neuro Development Pathway waiting list and times 2021-22 – to be considered w/c 26th April.

Issues for escalation ( through 0-25 Advisory Board and/or Commissioning Committee)

None.

P
age 80



| 1

Sub-Group/Programme:        Therapies ERG (SLCN & OT / PT) Lead:  Eejay Whitehead

Work programme context:
OT/PT
This is a continuation of the therapies test for change work. It builds on the SLCN review and re-specification and is a joint service review of OT / PT with a view to 
developing a new joint, outcome-focussed, service specification across the CCG and LA.
SLCN
Focussed on implementation of the new specification based on the new schools based delivery model N.B. COVID-19 has affected delivery of the full specification.

COVID has caused significant disruption to service delivery, altering the needs and demands on the services. This will affect the full delivery of the SLCN specification.
The provider has developed proposals to ensure provision for children in the current context, but recovery to pre-COVID levels may take some time.

Programme structure and implementation:
OT / PT working group that meets to review current service and develop new service specification feeding into Therapies ERG.
SLCN implementing the new specification, reporting to Therapies ERG with task & finish groups established around particular issues.
Exception reporting through to POG

Progress summary (last 8 weeks): (high level and by exception)
SLCN
• 3 Band 5’s have started but other vacancies remain – advertising for another band 5, 

but this staff shortage will impact on delivery to schools
• Virtual training offer  still being delivered and is well received
• Schools starting to use their core allocation now
• Still pressure on delivery of EHCP hours & staff are learning to use the new EHCP hub 

for new assessments which is taking time
OT / PT
• Waiting for sign-off of SOP to allow hydro-therapy pool at SRFT to open again
• Starting more face-to-face appointments
• New training for parents on co-ordination difficulties – referrals  by OT staff
• Issues with invitations to annual reviews from certain schools
• Learning to utilise the new EHCP hub
• Still an impact on the service due to appointment cancellations on the day due to 

Covid

Outlook summary: (next 8 weeks) 
SLCN
• Continue to risk assess service delivery
• Induct new staff & recruit additional staff
• Review of the outcome framework
• Review of delivery of the new service specification in its first year, 

including elements delivered by SaLT and wider partners

OT / PT
• Continue to risk assess service delivery
• Trying to source locum to cover mat leave – may mean physio vacancy 

for a few months
• Re-specification of OT /PT service & business case for additional 

resource
• Explore extension of hyro-therapy to Springwood and Chatsworth school 

pools

0-25 Transformation: Highlight Report
Please return to Clare Hopton clare.hopton@salford.gov.uk

P
age 81



Upcoming Milestones/Next steps/Key Decisions Date

Re-specification of OT / PT service & business case to support additional resource July 2021

Risks 

1. Estates: lack of adequate therapy space in some schools and difficulties in travelling across a number of school sites where staff are often not trained to be able to 
support the child. Any new specialist input into schools needs additional resource that needs to be factored in. 

2. Post 16yr olds: increasing numbers with EHCPs are accessing post 16 learning pathways e.g. 213 young people in City College with EHCPs requiring input, albeit not 
all with therapeutic needs, 75 young people who have moved from Year 11 to college who would require ongoing SALT input. The majority have EHCPs with SALT 
hours, with many of them continuing to stay on at Oakwood and Chatsworth college provision.

3. Achievement of stated EHCP hrs:  if EHCP hrs are prioritised in the current situation then preventative work is not being done which will impact in the longer term, 
potentially with increased numbers of EHCPs. Also it is not always possible to deliver what is stated in the Plan due to COVID restrictions, however the re is no 
longer the relaxation of the legislation to ‘reasonable endeavours’ as there was  in the initial months of the pandemic, which is a risk.

4. Developmental Language Disorder: this is under-identified in Salford, work is ongoing to raise awareness and if this leads to greater identification, then this may 
mean that there needs to be a re-prioritisation of resource based on need, which may mean that some CYP no longer receive a service.

5. Gaps identified in new SLCN service specification: lack of provision for PRU’s and independent Jewish schools.
6. Staffing issues: SaLT have had some experienced staff leave and have struggled to recruit to vacancies, OT / PT need locum cover and do not have the capacity to 

engage in the business case development at the moment
7. Impact of managing children from out of area – Shirley Gallagher-Woods is leading  some GM work on this area & SaLT is contributing data 

Summary of Risk Summary of Mitigation RAG Rating 

Post 16yrs 1. Review the data and scope the provision 16+ 

Estates issues 1. Proposed Changes to education estate shared at LA/CCG Liaison Meeting
2. LA/CCG  planning on health services in special schools – meetings to be resumed

Gaps in SLCN service specification 1. Training to be offered to independent Jewish schools – this has been taken up 
2. 16+ in schools & colleges & PRU’s to be explored as part of first year review of the spec

Staffing Issues 1. SaLT have appointed newly qualified staff and will train them up but this will be more   
resource intensive in the short term

Out of Area issues 1. SaLT are contributing data to the GM review of this area

Financial spend/requests:

Business case to be prepared for additional investment in OT /PT to ensure future service addresses gaps identified within the review.

Issues for escalation ( through 0-25 Advisory Board and/or Commissioning Committee)

Achievement of stated EHCP hrs: if EHCP hrs are prioritised in the current situation then preventative work is not being done which will impact in the longer term,
potentially with increased numbers of EHCPs and commissioning committee is asked to note this risk. Difficulties in delivering what is stated in the EHC Plan due to
COVID restrictions.

P
age 82



| 1

Sub-Group/Programme:    Voice of the Child
Lead:  Tim Rumley

Work programme context:
The Voice of the Child group meets in sequence prior to the Safeguarding Children’s Partnership and the 0-25 group to review the agenda items and to ensure young 
people have an opportunity to contribute to the agenda 
Voice of the Child is a priority for the 0-25 group

Programme structure and implementation:
Project has linked with the Make a Difference Project and the next stage is the implementation of the Salford Standards for Listening for Children, Young People and 
Families. The youth groups have been consulted from across the city and young people’s views of COVID lockdown have been compiled.

Progress summary (last 8 weeks): (high level and by exception)
No additional meeting since February 2021
Key activity to identify who deliver Young people’s commissioning work. Member of staff 
identified. In discussion around role.
Work plan in development (To include):
Training and recruitment of 25 young commissioners
Delivery of young people’s tech committee
Championing the role of MOMO Mind of My Own app in social care/Early Help

Youth Council  deliver campaigns on Make your Mark ballots national and local priorities 
campaigns 
Support implementation of Salford Standards for listening to children young people and 
families and learning loops – the profile of these standards have been raised widely
Early Help has set up a voice of children young people and families – support the 
development of this and join the Listening hub squad has been formed to support the 
implementation of standards

Outlook summary: (next 8 weeks) 

Work plan (to be finalised

To training and recruitment of 25 young commissioners/inspectors
Delivery of young people’s tech committee
Championing the role of MOMO Mind of My Own app in social area
Mark Your Mark Campaigns on Mental health, Plastic and Transforming 
education (National Campaigns) Child poverty and Domestic Abuse (local 
priorities)

0-25 Transformation: Highlight Report
Please return to Clare Hopton clare.hopton@salford.gov.uk

P
age 83



Upcoming Milestones/Next steps/Key Decisions Date

Complete work plan for 2021/22
Young commissioners work (train young people, support commissioning role)
MOMO Mind of Your Own roll out – develop implementation plan, set training and identify champions
Youth Partnership – build youth partnership and support the Youth Voice from wider group of young people – complete initial 
questionnaire 
Revisit face to face meetings of Voice of the child group

June 2021
March 2022
March 2022
June 2021
August 2021

Risks 

Engagement remains a challenge. Youth council has more members and FFCC is meeting physically so getting numbers but Teams meetings continue to be a challenge.
The Youth Council have moved to face to face meetings and digitl ones adnd whilst attendance is good, different young people prefer the different meetings.

Financial spend/requests:

The request last month still applies – in order to create a bank of young commissioners, will require some additional resource to be confirmed. This could include
payment of young people, fuel for residential. Possibly some staffing costs. The Youth service would lead this work will cover the costs of residential at Lledr Hall
already in the budget to deliver the training at.

Issues for escalation ( through 0-25 Advisory Board and/or Commissioning Committee)

Summary of Risk Summary of Mitigation RAG Rating 

Online meetings with young people 1. Consider COVID secure actual meetings
Preparation for meetings by support workers 1. Send out details of meetings and agenda items in advance

P
age 84


	Agenda
	3 Draft minutes of the meeting held on 10 March 2021.
	5 Finance Report. (David Warhurst)
	6 Risk Behaviours Business Case (Steve Gavin)
	7 Transitions Policy (Debbie Blackburn)
	8 0-25 Highlight reports from sub groups. (For Information)
	0-25 Highlight report CAN ERG Apr 2021
	0-25 Transformation Highlight Report Template - Thrive Q4  23.04.21
	0-25 Transformation Highlight Report Therapies ERG April 2021
	0-25 Transformation Highlight Report Voice of the Child April 2021


